

UNIVERSITY OF GENOVA & Italian Institute of Technology

PHD PROGRAM IN BIOENGINEERING AND ROBOTICS CURRICULUM IN COGNITIVE ROBOTICS, INTERACTION AND REHABILITATION TECHNOLOGIES

THE SOUND OF SCOTOMA A multisensory integration approach for individuals with Macular Degeneration

by

Hafsah Ahmad

Thesis submitted for the degree of *Doctor of Philosophy* $(32^{\circ} \text{ cycle})$

March 2020

Giulio Sandini & Monica Gori Giorgio Cannata Supervisors Head of the PhD program

Dibris

Department of Informatics, Bioengineering, Robotics and Systems Engineering

To MAMA and ABBU G ...

Declaration

I hereby declare that except where specific reference is made to the work of others, the contents of this dissertation are original and have not been submitted in whole or in part for consideration for any other degree or qualification in this, or any other university. This dissertation is my own work and contains nothing which is the outcome of work done in collaboration with others, except as specified in the text and Acknowledgements. This dissertation contains fewer than 65,000 words including appendices, bibliography, footnotes, tables and equations and has fewer than 150 figures.

Hafsah Ahmad March 2020

Abstract

Audio-spatial representation reorganizes in the absence of visual inputs, as in case of blind individuals. However, it is not clear how this spatial reorganization works. Although blindness is an ideal condition to understand how other sensory modalities react in absence of vision, there are some limits in using it as a modal. The main limit is that blindness can be considered a stable model of cortical organization and it does not allow to understand the mechanisms which cause this reorganization. To understand this process, we have studied a unique group of individuals suffering from Macular Degeneration (MD) for whom loss of visual inputs due to a progressive scotoma is an ongoing process. In this dissertation I decided to focus on understanding auditory spatial representation in MD individuals and to develop technological solutions for them incorporating multisensory integration. First, we developed a device called ARENA which is an audio-tactile matrix of speakers to study audio-spatial localization in MD individuals. Our findings show that visual loss brings an immediate change in the processing of audio-spatial percept by attracting the lateral sounds towards scotoma positions in the center, producing a strong auditory spatial perception bias. To recaliberate this audio-spatial bias and to give MD individuals an understanding of their own scotoma to develop an effective pseudo fovea, we have designed a rehabilitation protocol called Intelligent Audio Visual Thumble Training (IVATT). A multisensory feedback device Audio Visual Thumble (AVT) is developed for this training. Our findings show that this technique is effective to overcome the audio-spatial bias and can improve the precision towards visual stimuli in peripheral visual field. This work concludes that development of scotoma alters the audio-spatial representation and hence focus of rehabilitation techniques can be extended to bring-in multisensory modalities in order to utilize residual vision of MD individuals.

Table of contents

Li	List of figures			
Li	List of tables			
1	Intr	oductio	on and Literature review	1
	1.1	Aim o	f the study	1
	1.2	Multis	ensory Integration	2
		1.2.1	From auditory cortex to early visual cortex	3
	1.3	Low v	ision and cortical plasticity	4
		1.3.1	Methods for measuring plasticity in low vision	5
		1.3.2	Plasticity following early visual deprivation	7
		1.3.3	Plasticity following late onset visual deprivation	9
	1.4	Macul	ar Degeneration (MD)	12
		1.4.1	Challenges for MD individuals	14
		1.4.2	Preferred Retinal Locus (PRL)	16
	1.5	Rehab	ilitation techniques for Macular Degeneration	16
	1.6	Object	tive of thesis	18
2	Seei	ng, Hea	uring and feeling scotoma through technology	20
	2.1	We see	e with our brain, not with our eyes	20
2.2 ARENA -		AREN	IA - An audio-spatial matrix	21
		2.2.1	Design	21
		2.2.2	Building Blocks	21
		2.2.3	Communication procedure	25
		2.2.4	Applications	25
		2.2.5	Limitations	26
		2.2.6	Future of ARENA	26

	2.3	AVT - An audio-visual ring with spatially and temporally congruent feedback 2	26			
		2.3.1 Design and working	27			
		2.3.2 Device modes	29			
		2.3.3 Battery replacement	29			
		2.3.4 Risks and Precautions	31			
		2.3.5 Applications and future of AVT	31			
	2.4	Summary	32			
3	Effe	ect on audio-space representation due to Macular Degeneration	33			
•	3.1	Audio-space representation and scotoma	33			
	3.2	Audio localization experiment	34			
	5.2	3.2.1 Participants	34			
		3.2.2. Task	۰ ۲			
		3 2 3 Participant's responses on ARENA	38			
	33	Results 2	;0 ;0			
	5.5	3.3.1 General Results	;) 30			
		3.3.2 Responses in MD and Sighted groups	,, 10			
		3.3.3 Responses in Central and Peripheral positions	12			
		3.3.4 Hits and Misses chart	13			
		3.3.5 Correlations	rJ 1Λ			
	3 /	Conclusions	16			
	5.4		FU			
4	Inte	elligent Audio Visual Thumble Training (IVATT) 4	18			
	4.1	Macular Degeneration	18			
	4.2	Low vision and plasticity in adulthood				
	4.3	Multisensory reorganization for a sensory deficit	50			
	4.4	Rehabilitation for Macular Degeneration				
	4.5	IVATT equipments	52			
		4.5.1 Audio Visual Thumble (AVT)	52			
		4.5.2 Archimedean Spiral board	53			
	4.6	IVATT protocol	54			
		4.6.1 Audio localization test	56			
		4.6.2 Visual localization test	57			
		4.6.3 Training	58			
		4.6.4 Participants	50			
	4.7	Results	51			

		4.7.1	Audio localization test	61
		4.7.2	Visual localization test	65
		4.7.3	Overall performance of IVATT	66
	4.8	Conclu	asions	69
5	Con	clusion	S	72
	5.1	Seeing	, Hearing and feeling scotoma through technology	73
	5.2	Effect	on audio-space representation due to Macular Degeneration	74
	5.3	Intellig	gent Aduio Visual Thumble Training (IVATT)	76
	5.4	Genera	al conclusion	79
Re	eferen	ices		80

List of figures

1.1	Examples of fundus images for different MD conditions. Left: Numerous	
	Drusen (yellow-white spots) of different sizes, Right: Geographic atrophy .	12
1.2	Fundus image for non-vascular AMD	13
1.3	Examples of visual inputs as seen by a retina, Wet Macular Degeneration	
	and Dry Macular Degeneration	15
1.4	Presentation of PRL outside the blind zone	17
2.1	The ARENA. It is a 2-D matrix (5x5) of 25 blocks, each block consists of a	
	speaker in center covered by 16 tactile sensors. On the left is represented the	
	device in its entirety, while the right part of the figure represent a subsection	
	of it, in which each block is highlighted by numbers 1, 2, 3 and 4 for the ease	
	of understanding	22
2.2	Cabling System. A. Power connections (micro-USB connectors). B. Data	
	connections (cylindrical connectors)	22
2.3	Schematic block diagram of ARENA. The three main building blocks are	
	the HOST, SLAVE and a PC with Windows or LINUX	24
2.4	AVT device with housing for biocompatible material seen from above (left)	
	and from below (right)	27
2.5	Schematic diagram for AVT device	28
2.6	Indication of the switches, their status and positioning of the output devices,	
	the LED and the buzzer	30
2.7	Opening the device case to allow battery change	31
3.1	The device and simulation of device	37
3.2	Experimental Design	38

3.3	Responses of four participants recorded on ARENA. On the left the results	
	of two participants of the MD group and on the right the results of two	
	participants of the control group are shown	39
3.4	Differences in CR and PR for (A) MD and (B) control groups	41
3.5	Scatter plot for differences in CR and PR (central line is a reference line CR	
	= PR) for (A) MD have a greater percentage for CR than PR and (B) control	
	group respond symmetrically around the reference line	41
3.6	Differences between groups; MD and Controls for (A) CR and (B) PR \ldots	43
3.7	Hits and misses chart. (A) MD group. (B) Control group	44
3.8	Pearson's Correlations. (A) Correlation between onset age and percentage of	
	CR. (B) Correlation between scotoma duration and percentage of CR. (C)	
	Correlation between age of MD group and percentage of CR. (D) Correlation	
	between age of controls group and percentage of CR	45
4.1	AVT Device. A. Front side, B. Back side, C. Device components	54
4.1 4.2	AVT Device. A. Front side, B. Back side, C. Device components Archimedean Spiral Board	54 55
4.1 4.2 4.3	AVT Device. A. Front side, B. Back side, C. Device componentsArchimedean Spiral BoardIVATT protocol	54 55 56
4.14.24.34.4	AVT Device. A. Front side, B. Back side, C. Device components	54 55 56 57
 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 	AVT Device. A. Front side, B. Back side, C. Device componentsArchimedean Spiral BoardIVATT protocolExperimental Design for Audio Localization TestExperimental Design for Visual Localization Test	54 55 56 57 58
 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 	AVT Device. A. Front side, B. Back side, C. Device components	54 55 56 57 58 59
 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 	AVT Device. A. Front side, B. Back side, C. Device componentsArchimedean Spiral BoardIVATT protocolIVATT protocolExperimental Design for Audio Localization TestExperimental Design for Visual Localization TestSubject performing IVATTDifferences in CR and PR for pre and post phases. A. Training group in Pre	54 55 56 57 58 59
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7	AVT Device. A. Front side, B. Back side, C. Device componentsArchimedean Spiral BoardIVATT protocolIVATT protocolExperimental Design for Audio Localization TestExperimental Design for Visual Localization TestSubject performing IVATTDifferences in CR and PR for pre and post phases. A. Training group in Prephase, B. Training group in post phase, C. Control group in pre phase, D.	54 55 56 57 58 59
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7	AVT Device. A. Front side, B. Back side, C. Device componentsArchimedean Spiral BoardIVATT protocolIVATT protocolExperimental Design for Audio Localization TestExperimental Design for Visual Localization TestSubject performing IVATTDifferences in CR and PR for pre and post phases. A. Training group in Prephase, B. Training group in post phase, C. Control group in pre phase, D.Control group in post phase	54 55 56 57 58 59 63
 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 	AVT Device. A. Front side, B. Back side, C. Device componentsArchimedean Spiral BoardIVATT protocolIVATT protocolExperimental Design for Audio Localization TestExperimental Design for Visual Localization TestSubject performing IVATTDifferences in CR and PR for pre and post phases. A. Training group in Prephase, B. Training group in post phase, C. Control group in pre phase, D.Control group in post phasePercentage responses for Audio localization test in pre and post phases. A.	54 55 56 57 58 59 63
 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 	AVT Device. A. Front side, B. Back side, C. Device componentsArchimedean Spiral BoardIVATT protocolIVATT protocolExperimental Design for Audio Localization TestExperimental Design for Visual Localization TestSubject performing IVATTDifferences in CR and PR for pre and post phases. A. Training group in Prephase, B. Training group in post phase, C. Control group in pre phase, D.Control group in post phasePercentage responses for Audio localization test in pre and post phases. A.Training group, B. Controls group	 54 55 56 57 58 59 63 65
 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9 	AVT Device. A. Front side, B. Back side, C. Device componentsArchimedean Spiral BoardIVATT protocolIVATT protocolExperimental Design for Audio Localization TestExperimental Design for Visual Localization TestSubject performing IVATTOlifferences in CR and PR for pre and post phases. A. Training group in Prephase, B. Training group in post phase, C. Control group in pre phase, D.Control group in post phasePercentage responses for Audio localization test in pre and post phases. A.Training group, B. Controls groupDistance errors for Visual localization test in pre and post phases. A. Training	 54 55 56 57 58 59 63 65

List of tables

2.1	AVT Device Modes	30
3.1	Characteristics of MD participants (visual acuity for P06, P16, P17, and P18 are not reported as the hospital was unable to provide a VA record for these	
	participants), *eye, **years	36
4.1	Switch Modes	53
4.2	Training group data	60
4.3	Control group data	61
4.4	Overall performance of IVATT	68

Chapter 1

Introduction and Literature review

1.1 Aim of the study

One important feature in our everyday life is to understand the environment surrounding us. To achieve this goal, we use mainly vision and the integration of it with all the other senses. However, what does happen to spatial representation in absence of vision? To answer this question until now, blindness has been used as a model for understanding neural reorganization. Although blindness is an ideal condition to understand the role of spatial representation, the limit is that it is a stable cortical organization. In this dissertation, I will propose and investigate a new model to investigate spatial representation that is Macular Degeneration (MD) disease. The first research question is: how does spatial representation reorganize when partial visual inputs are lost in patients with MD? Second, if there is a spatial reorganization, can we develop a rehabilitation protocol to overcome this bias using multisensory integration? From literature review, we found a research gap in understanding the multisensory representation reorganization with the partial loss of vision and we found that the rehabilitation techniques available for MD individuals focus on visual modality only, unlike blind individuals for whom many sensory substitution devices are available in market. The aim of this study is to understand auditory spatial representation in MD individuals and to develop technical solutions for them incorporating multisensory integration.

1.2 Multisensory Integration

Our perception of environment around us is based on various sensory feedbacks from the external world and it is processed by multiple sensory systems. In order to create a coherent representation of these sensory inputs, our brain binds the related sensory inputs together and the unrelated ones are segregated (Stein and Meredith (1993)). Hence, *Multisensory Integration* is defined as the ability of the brain to quickly and efficiently integrate the sensory inputs coded by possibly independent sensory systems. Multisensory integration is a basic perceptual function and where, when and how these sensory systems integrate together is a matter of deep research.

The conventional elementary theory of cortical association is that separate regions of the cortex discretely receive visual, auditory, tactile, gustatory and olfactory sensory inputs. These sensory regions are supposed to be self-regulating and are thought to show projections that congregate on sensory association regions (for example, parietal region). These sensory association regions then empowers the binding among separate senses. This conventional concept of binding between senses was overturned in the last decade of 20th century. Advanced functional imaging techniques (Foxe and Simpson (2002), Martuzzi et al. (2006), Macaluso et al. (2000), Calvert (2001)) and development of electrophysiological research on humans and animals (Giard and Peronnet (1999), Foxe et al. (2000), Molholm et al. (2002), Gomez-Ramirez et al. (2011), Murray et al. (2004)) opened new dimensions towards multisensory integration phenomenon. These evidences changed the paradigm of scientific research in cognitive neuroscience, opening doors to an idea that the primary sensory regions are entirely sensitive to sensory input from only one sensory modality. This idea gave birth to a hypothesis that multisensory integration is present nearly in all cortices, even in early cortical stages of sensory processing as well (Murray et al. (2016), Ghazanfar and Schroeder (2006)). However, this new paradigm of sensory interaction is a prevalent breakthrough in research and the debate on existence of multisensory integration in early sensory areas (Kayser (2010)) and the mechanisms underlying this sensory integration is still a significant research question (Schroeder and Lakatos (2009), Mercier et al. (2013)). Research is in progress now and some studies have shown the complex and heterogeneous behaviour of multisensory integration effects (Yu et al. (2019), Mercier et al. (2015), Mercier et al. (2013)).

Despite the fact that early anatomical research on different primary sensory modalities could not provide an evidence for strong anatomical linkages between these sensory regions (Jones and Powell (1970)), with the advancement of techniques in last couple of decades

we have seen some novel insights on this aspect. In the following section, the anatomical connectivity between sensory cortices (vision and audition) is discussed.

1.2.1 From auditory cortex to early visual cortex

During last 20 years, many studies on animals have found a coherent evidence showing monosynaptic (direct projections) from different areas of the auditory cortex towards early visual cortex. However, before 2002 we have seen no evidence showing direct pathway from A1 to V1 areas in monkeys. The possible absence of anatomical connections in monkeys became very controversial since the presence of this pathway in Mangolian gerbil as shown by Budinger et al. (2000), and because early visual cortex are recruited ny non-visual inputs as seen in blindness (Büchel et al. (1998), Sadato et al. (1996), Cohen et al. (1999), Weeks et al. (2000)). The influential study from Falchier and colleagues in 2002 (Falchier et al. (2002)) is the first evidence for presence of this pathway in macaque monkeys. They used retrograde trackers at different portions in early visual cortex and found the paternal neuron for these pathways at the sixth layer of core called the belt and parabelt regions of auditory cortex. They demonstrated a very important aspect of these projections showing that the peripheral region, that represent the peripheral visual field of primary visual cortex, received these projections in moderate density while the central regions that essentially represent the central visual field, received these projections in less density. Interestingly, later studies supported their finding that peripheral regions of early visual cortex have connectivity with auditory regions, however their finding about central regions of primary visual cortex showed sparse connectivity with auditory regions and the later finding could not gain support.

One year after Falchier et al. (2002) published their crucial findings, Rockland and Ojima (2003) partially conformed their findings. They found an evidence that belt area of auditory cortex connects to peripheral regions of V1 and V2. These connections were dispersed in VI and compact in V2. On the other hand, Rockland and Ojima (2003) could not find an evidence for connectivity between the belt and parabelt regions of auditory cortex and the central region of V1 and V2.

Above findings were supported by several other studies conducted on other mammals. For example, Henschke et al. (2015) also showed that A1 has a mild projection on V1. This was also supported by Cappe et al. (2009) who could not find an evidence for anatomical pathway connectivity from the auditory regions to central V2 regions. This result indirectly supports the idea of heteromodal pathways between peripheral representations from visual cortex. Another study on cats by Hall and Lomber (2008) found the parental neurons for

these pathways in posterior part of auditory cortex. This study used retrograde tracers for retinotropic representations of V1 and V2 in center and periphery. They also tested a second group of cats by using tiny deposits in more precise locations of visual cortex namely central, paracentral and peripheral visual fields. For this second group of cats with more precise locations, the results showed that parental neurons in posterior part of auditory cortex targets the neurons in peripheral visual field. This study (Hall and Lomber (2008)) provides an evidence for organization of heteromodal connectivity in cats which is in line with the findings for monkeys. An important point they found about neurons in the peripheral auditory cortex is that they show a lower retinotropic organization. This is in line with the work of Morrell (1972) which is a neurophysiological study, showed a presentation of audio-spatial inputs on primary visual cortex of cats.

Based on these studies, now it is known that in primates brain, auditory cortex regions of belt and parabelt regions have moderate projections to the peripheral visual field of V2 and dispersed projections for V1 peripheral fields. These studies are proof that there is multisensory integration among sensory cortices even when they are receiving perfect inputs. The study from Alais and Burr (2004) is an example of the hiraricy of how these sensory inputs are ordered by our brain. They have provided an evidence that when visual and auditory information are presented at the same time, the visual modality dominance over audition in the spatial domain. However, in the absence of vision, the high weightage of visual inputs (which is impaired for blind individuals) is shifted towards the auditory cortex and the visual cortex is recruited by auditory to form a multisensory integration. There are also some studies showing that in the absence of vision, the visual cortex of blind individuals process tactile and auditory inputs (Rauschecker et al. (1995), Collignon et al. (2009), Collignon et al. (2013), Voss et al. (2004)).

1.3 Low vision and cortical plasticity

Anatomy of vision, typically the early visual pathways, changes significantly as a result of a disease or an injury. These changes show an immediate effect on both anatomical and behavioural visual functionality tests. As an example, Macular Degeneration (MD), causes an observable change to visual acuity due to retinal damage and forms a scotoma on the retina. This change in visual field due to scotoma may be adapted by the visual system in such a way that effects the characteristics of neural pathways and perceptions. These changes can be either spontaneous or gradual depending upon the subsequent experience or training of the effected person. An analogy for these changes could be the traffic blockage on a busy street inside the city which directly effects the flow of traffic on that street, which is similar to the blockage to flow of visual information towards the optic nerve due to Macular Degeneration. However, the blockage of traffic on busy street also effects the neighbouring streets as the drivers tries to find their way through unblocked streets thus producing a subsequent traffic jam in uneffected streets as well, hence adapting to the behaviour of blocked street. Similarly, flow of visual information adapts to the functional visual pathways at an early anatomical stage like retina or optic nerves. These plastic changes in visual anatomy can be found by testing either the anatomy, neural processing or visual behaviour.

1.3.1 Methods for measuring plasticity in low vision

Behavioural tests

To examine plasticity in people with low vision, three kinds of tests are used. 1) Comparing the difference in visual perception between low vision and sighted people to check plasticity, 2) tracking the visual functionality over a long period of time to measure attributes that are not directly related to underlying disease and 3) a training or perceptual learning method with a focus on improving a specific attribute affected by given pathology (Legge and Chung (2016)). Studying plasticity using these methods rely on various outcome measures.

Among the most common outcomes used for evaluating changes in visual functionality are visual acuity tests, contrast sensitivity tests and visual field tests. To measure visual acuity in a research setting, normally modern letter charts are used. These charts follow robust design techniques and they have a high reliability for test-retest settings. Among the best known visual acuity techniques are the Bailey-Lovie letter chart (Bailey and Lovie (1976)) and ETDRS chart (Ferris III et al. (1982)). Letter chart technique is used to measure contrast sensitivity as well. Among the commonly used methods are the Pelli-Robson chart (Elliott et al. (1990)) and MARS chart (Arditi et al. (2005)). Contrast Sensitivity Function (CSF) provides a more in-depth characterization of low-vision (Chung and Legge (2016)). However, CSF is not used commonly for low vision measurements because it requires more patient time and is technically difficult, although a user friendly CSF method has been developed that can be used in clinical settings (Lesmes et al. (2010)).

Another widely used outcome for measuring low vision plasticity is visual field perimetry. This parameter is used in pathologies involving visual field loss such as in Macular Degeneration. In case the pathology is hemianopia i.e. causes peripheral field loss, an instrument called Humphrey Visual Field Analyzer is commonly used. For the pathology involving central field loss, a test called Humphrey 10-2 test is used which covers the central 10 degrees of visual field. Microperimetry (Nidek MP-1 and MAIA) is also an advanced technique to analyse sensitivity and focus of central visual field. These microperimeters are capable of presenting stimuli at known retinal locations with a reduced noise even with high eye movements. They use imaging and track landmark positions on retina for measurement to reduce the noise due to eye movements. Another advantage of using microperimeters is that they can measure the visual field which is an effective outcome in measuring the visual field deficits.

There are certain other outcomes used to measure plasticity in low vision which are focused towards measuring a certain attribute that concern real world challenges for these patients. Reading performance, for example, is an attribute commonly effected due to central visual field loss. There are several tests to assess the performance in reading, for example Bailey-Lovie near-vision chart (Bailey and Lovie (1976)), MNREAD visual acuity chart (Calabrese et al. (2016)), IReST reading tests (Trauzettel-Klosinski and Dietz (2012)) and the Radner reading test (Radner et al. (2002)). Among the other parameters to measure performance in outside world include face recognition (Bailey and Lovie (1980)), visual search task (Wiecek et al. (2012)), pedestrian mobility test (Soong et al. (2004)), letter recognition (Kwon et al. (2007)) and predicting the driving ability using visual field (Chaparro et al. (1998)).

Imaging tests

During the last 3 decades, imaging has been used to study the cortical and anatomical changes in low vision. The initial Scanning Laser Ophthalmoscope (SLO) was developed in 80s that acquired retinal images whiles simultaneous stimuli were presented (Mainster et al. (1982)). SLO became an essential instrument for measuring the pseudo fovea of patients with central visual loss. Another technique used for measuring pseudo fovea and fixation is the advanced fundus camera (White and Bedell (1990)). Other imaging tools used in low vision research include Nidek MP-1, OCT/SLO, MAIA (Seiple et al. (2013)), adaptive-optics SLO (Roorda and Duncan (2015)) and tracking SLO (Braaf et al. (2013)). Spatial resolution and field size of these instruments varies and therefore, the choice of instrument depends upon the research in question.

In past, it was not possible with the available techniques to study the cortical changes underlying low vision. Thanks to the development of non-invasive cortical imaging techniques as a result of which now it is possible how structure and function of brain reacts to onset of low vision. Whole-brain magnetic resonance imaging voxel-based morphometryhas been used to study the structural imaging by observing the afferent projections to visual cortex of blind people with no visual experience (Kupers et al. (2011)). This study showed a notable atrophy of the optic chiasm, optic nerve, optical radiations, primary and secondary visual areas and MT. Magnetic resonance imaging was used in another study to observe the atrophy of V1 area in Macular Degeneration patients (Hernowo et al. (2014)). In another study, the diffusion tensor imaging method was used showing a reduction of white matter integrity during optic radiations in blindness compared to sighted individuals (Dietrich et al. (2015)). This studied showed a greater loss of white matter in late blind individuals (above 18 years of age) compared to congenital blind individuals.

Among the functional imaging methods to study cortical changes following low vision are the functional magnetic resonance imaging and positron emission tomography. To study the level of activation for different cortical regions commonly used method is the change in hemodynamic which is the measurement of the blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) response. BOLD works on the concept that the active neurons need more supply of oxygen which creates a difference in oxyhemoglobin and deoxyhemoglobin levels in blood showing a cortical activity. Population receptive fields (PRFs) is a computational method that has been used to study changes in visual cortices as a result of different pathologies (Wandell and Winawer (2015)). PRF measures receptive field of a single neuron as fMRI analog. It can be an important method to study the cortical changes with vision loss.

1.3.2 Plasticity following early visual deprivation

Humans come to this world with an premature pattern vision. Behavioural measures for full-term new-born show that they have grating acuity of only 20/860 (Snellen chart) or 0.7 cycles/degree, whereas sighted adults have a grating acuity of approximately 10 cycles/degree (Brown and Yamamoto (1986)). Normal vision is achieved with growing age and visual experience. For example, infants that are born with dense cataracts are found to have reduced acuity in adult age, provided cataract is not surgically removed at an early stage. Visual function matures with growing age i.e. critical flicker fusion matures within 2 months, acuit and contrast sensitivity requires six to seven years of visual experience (Ellemberg et al. (1999)), visual span for reading at early school (Kwon et al. (2007)) and it takes almost a decade for face perception. In this context, the age of disease onset plays an important role as it effects the plasticity and the recovery of normal vision, provided any restorative treatment is available at a later stage in life.

Influence of early deprivation on visual cortex of kittens showed that visual function recovery after a long period of deprivation was absent in visual cortex (Hubel and Wiesel (1965)). Case studies on people suffering from long term or congenital visual deprivation shows similar results of poor performance (Von Senden (1960), Gregory and Wallace (1963)). For instance, let's consider case study of a subject MM. MM was born with normal vision, but due to an accident at 3.5 years of age, he lost complete vision of one eye while the cornea other eye was also seriously damaged with only light perception without pattern vision. After four decades of accident, he has a surgery of limbal stem-cell and also had a corneal transplant. These surgeries gave him a better image formation at retina. He was tested for certain behavioural tests within two years of vision restoration. These tests showed an acuity of 20/500, close to normal perception of motion and colour and normal recognition of two dimensional objects. However, higher level visual abilities like identifying three dimensional objects and face recognition remained severely impaired (Šikl et al. (2013)). fMRI studies for MM showed that his visual cortex responded actively to motion stimuli, however ventral visual pathways did not revealed normal category specific activation for face and three dimensional stimuli. MM was tested again after 10 years and the results showed improvement neither in visual acuity nor in higher level visual cue recognition (Huber et al. (2015)). From MM's case study, a conclusion can be drawn that if the visual functions are not truly developed before the visual loss, after the vision restoration they do not develop with visual experience. Even some functions developed before visual deprivation; visual acuity for MM as an example; may also decline with time during long period of visual deprivation.

With advanced techniques in research, there are studies that have shown contrary results to case studies mentioned above i.e. they have found a greater plasticity in adults who have restored vision after a very long period of visual deprivation. Studies on adult patients with amblyopia have shown that some kinds of extensive visual exercises can improve the visual acuity at adult age (Hess et al. (2011), Levi and Li (2009)). Amblyopia is a pathology that effects acuity and contrast sensitivity of one eye resulting in lower reflective power for both eyes. A conventional thought about this pathology is that its treatment does not produce any positive results in terms of plasticity after a critical age of around seven years. However, these studies found an improvement in visual acuity even at adult age. Even if amblyopia is not considered among low vision pathologies, these studies are still a significant evidence showing plasticity of visual functionality at adult age.

Molyneux raised an interesting question in 1688. The question was that if a person is congenitally blind, so has no visual experience, if he regains his vision at adult age, will he be able to recognize shapes and sizes through vision? (Lievers (1992)). The answer to this question has been in search since it was originally proposed. A study on adults who were suffering from congenital early onset cataract and were surgically treated at later years in

life, reported an experiment in which soon after the surgery subjects were asked to match the shape of object presented either in their hand or shown, with a set of objects (either visual or touch) (Cohen and Matthen (2018)). Results of this study shows that subjects performed better in uni-modal cues i.e. matching touch-touch and vision-vision, but they showed poor results in cross modal matching i.e. touch-vision. These subjects were tested again after a certain period and it revealed that visual experience during this period have improved their cross modal skills and now they can perform better in matching touch-vision. This ability of learning to incorporate vision with touch at adult age provides another evidence for adult plasticity in visual deprivation. These results are indeed encouraging for visual rehabilitation.

1.3.3 Plasticity following late onset visual deprivation

The term *critical period* for vision refers to the developmental period of humans when the cortical organization for visual pathways develop depending on visual experience, either normal or impaired. After critical period, the cortical organization and neural pathways matures and become stable and becomes harder to adapt any changes in sensory inputs (Wandell and Smirnakis (2009), Fagiolini and Hensch (2000)). This is the reason why adults who suffer from visual deprivation at a later stage in life (such as cataract or age-related macular degeneration) are expected to show less plasticity to ongoing changes in sensory inputs. However, evidence are still present showing plasticity to some extent in adults (sighted or low vision) even after critical period.

The potential for plasticity in low vision depending on visual experience and onset age of disease has been studied since long time. The topic is of critical importance because it has direct implications of rehabilitation. For example, consider if there plasticity is totally absent in adult age, the person deprived of vision will not be able to adapt to changes in visual inputs and hence there will be no impact of any rehabilitation. In this case, the only possibility will be a cure that can restore vision to its normal state, which is practically impossible to-date especially for retinal diseases. In this scenario, it is important to understand the potential of an adult's brain to adapt to changes in visual experience and to understand how this potential decreases with growing age, typically at old age when the person is more prone to develop visual impairments (Huttenlocher (2009),Pascual-Leone et al. (2011)).

Visual experience of a person can be altered in several ways. The most common way is through perceptual learning or training techniques in which participants are repeatedly shown similar stimuli. It may take several days to several weeks of extensive training to teach a sighted person a new skill. For example, position judgment (Li et al. (2004)), face

identification (Sun et al. (2014)), orientation discrimination (Chen and Fang (2011)), texture identification (Okura et al. (2019)) and letter recognition (Schwab and Nusbaum (2013)). Another way that can limit the visual experience is by limiting synaptic normal visual experience of a person. After limiting the orientation-specific visual inputs of subjects for four hours, an increase in sensitivity towards limited orientation was observed in comparison with orthogonal orientation used as a control task (Zhang et al. (2010)). In another experiment, contrast sensitivity of subjects was reduced for four hour using specialized goggles (Kwon et al. (2009)). Subjects performed better in contrast discrimination tasks after the impaired contrast period. They also showed an increased V1 and V2 activity in fMRI BOLD signals. These results show an enhancement in response gain for visual cortex as a result of limitation in the normal visual environment. Findings from the study of Boroojerdi et al. (2000) are also consistent with the previous studies that limited visual functionality enhances the activity in visual cortex. They used TMS pulses to measure threshold amplitudes. TMS pulse were used to produce phosphenes that are the perception of flashing light when applied to visual cortex. Sensitivity towards phosphenes progressively increased during initial three hours of light deprivation which returned to baseline after three hours when light deprivation was eliminated (Boroojerdi et al. (2000)). Multisensory changes at cortical levels are also seen for light impairment. In another experiment reported, subjects were blindfolded for five days. When tested for a tactile discrimination task after 5 days, sighted subjects showed an improved performance reporting enhanced fMRI BOLD signals in occipital cortex for tactile simulations. The elevated BOLD signals returned to baseline after 24 hours of deprivation (Merabet et al. (2008)). These findings provide a solid ground for the presence of plasticity in normally sighted adults brain. However, the evidences discussed above represent brain plasticity when a specific visual attribute is artificially deprived for a few hours or for a few days and the subjects regain normal sight after a certain recovery period. This artificial deprivation can not replace natural visual impairments that occur gradually and sustains life-long with a gradual increment. Therefore, below we discuss the plasticity due to diseases like age-related cataracts and age-related macular degeneration.

One of the leading cause for blindness in elder ages is the age-related cataracts. Luckily, there is an effective treatment for the effected eye by surgically replacing the effected intraocular lens by an artificial one. It is possible to regain the visual functions like acuity and contrast sensitivity after surgery, even if the surgical procedure is performed years after the cataract occurred (Williamson and Seewoodhary (2013)). Some interesting biases in perception are related with the cataract condition and their perception after the surgery. Due to cataracts, the interocular lens blurs (impaired sharp details) and filters out the light with

short wavelengths (blue light). After cataract removal surgery, patients generally report of dominant perception of warm colours in their environment, while coolers colours are changed after surgery. During such a study on cataract patients, they were asked to set-up the visual stimuli in such a way that they appear to be achromatic. The set-up results were biased towards the bluish shades with cataract, while they shifted towards yellowish shades after cataract removal, hence compensating for the new short wavelength light at the retina (Delahunt et al. (2004)). Similarly, in pre-surgical phase, patients are reported to complain blurry environment even at their best focus, which becomes sharp in post-surgery phase (Parkosadze et al. (2013)). Thanks to cataract removal surgery, the acuity regains with in days after surgery while colour and sharpness takes weeks to months to return to normal. The retrieval of perception, acuity and sharpness after surgery shows that visual pathways are plastic and are capable of adapting any changes to visual inputs caused either by a disease or by a therapy even at adult age.

Age-related macular degeneration is another leading cause of visual impairments and blindness worldwide. Unlike cataracts, there is no treatment available to stop the irreversible damage caused by the disease till date. It has been shown that reading abilities are badly effected as a result of central visual loss in macular degeneration, and certain perceptual trainings have proved to be effective in improving reading skills by learning to use healthy retinal regions. A paradigm called rapid serial visual presentation (RSVP) developed to increase the reading speed has shown an improvement of 53% after six weeks of training session on participants suffering from age-related macular degeneration and Stargardt's disease (Chung (2011)). Further evidence of perceptual learning in improving reading speed using the RSVP paradigm was found by showing an increased performance with reduced print size in MD subjects (Coates and Chung (2014)). It has also been shown that using oculomotor task can be effective to increase reading speed in comparison with RSVP (Seiple et al. (2011)). Similarly, AMD subjects performed better for reading speed, visual acuity and fixation stability following an eccentric training task (Rosengarth et al. (2013)). The fMRI study during this eccentric training task showed an improvement in BOLD signal in V1, V2 and V3 areas. However, this increased activity persisted only during the training and not after the training. Similar performance improvements in reading abilities were found in sighted adults compared to AMD patients while performing a similar task showing the similar ability for perceptual learning in adult age (Chung et al. (2004)). Indeed, these results of perceptual learning are encouraging for rehabilitation techniques showing that it is possible to make use of residual vision of macular degeneration individuals.



Figure 1.1 Examples of fundus images for different MD conditions. Left: Numerous Drusen (yellow-white spots) of different sizes, Right: Geographic atrophy

1.4 Macular Degeneration (MD)

Macular Degeneration (MD) is an irreversible, chronic and progressive disease and is among the leading causes for blindness worldwide. A study conducted in 2016 shows that around 6.2 million people were globally effected by the disease (Vos et al. (2016)). MD was ranked fourth among causes for blindness in a survey conducted in 2015; first three being Cataracts, preterm birth and Glaucoma (Vos et al. (2015)). Macular Degeneration can either be Agerelated Macular Degeneration (AMD) cause with aging after around 60 years of age, or it can be hereditary or genetic called Juvenile Macular Degeneration (JMD). The number of population effected by AMD is expected to increase even more because of longer life expectancy.

Macular Degeneration, as the name suggests, is the permanent degeneration of Macula. Macula is the central part of retina at the back of the eye. Its function is providing inputs for sharp details and brightness of visual scenes in surrounding environment. A person effected by the disease, undergoes a constant, destructive and irreversible changes in their macula with growing age as a result of which visual acuity decreases. During the early stages of the disease, yellow-white spots called retinal or subretinal drusen or retinal pigments are formed on macula. Once started, chances are that this disease will lead to an end stage of



Figure 1.2 Fundus image for non-vascular AMD

retinal damage. End-stage AMD can be of two types; neovascular AMD (nvAMD) and geographic atrophy (GA) (Bressler et al. (1988)). Figures 1.1 and 1.2 shows examples for fundus images obtained through microperimetery for different MD conditions from Tromso Eye Study in Norway. As can be seen on left side of Figure 1.1, during the early stages of MD, yellow-white spots appear on the retina that can feel like *flashing* on the eyes or in the form of *salt and pepper noise*. The right side of Figure 1.1 shows an advanced stage MD in which a clear scotoma or blind spot appears on retina.

During the early stages of Macular Degeneration, a person may not experience any visual loss. With advancement of disease, at GA stage, visual inputs are lost at damaged retinal positions and blind spots or scotoma appears in visual fields. These scotoma appear due to permanent loss of retinal pigment epithelium and photoreceptors (Curcio et al. (1996)). A condition of MD called Wet Macular Degeneration occurs due to neovascularisation inside or beneath the retina, which causes leakage of fluids and or blood in macula. If left untreated, there will be a rapid degradation of eye cause of retinal destruction and eventually lead to blindness.

1.4.1 Challenges for MD individuals

Patients suffering from advanced stages of MD have great challenges to face. Particularly they have reading impairments and problems with brightness. They lose vital information for seeing a scene like sharpness, brightness and fine details. They have problems in recognizing facial features, even from a small distance because of loss of central fixation point. This impairment of facial recognition significantly limits the social life of these individuals. Figure 1.3 shows a typical example of how a daily life scene may be perceived by a person suffering with Macular Degeneration. Since the macula is lost, the fixation stability of these individuals is severely impaired. Face recognition, driving, finding a dropped object on floor, differentiating similar toned colours and poor vision at night are just to name a few challenges which significantly effects the social life of these individuals. In case of peripheral visual loss, there are problems in walking, climbing stairs and can not see any obstacle on their way which is invisible due to peripheral scotoma (Stelmack (2001), Slakter and Stur (2005)). But the most difficult challenge from all of the ones mentioned, is knowing that this damage is irreversible and progressive and above all, to-date there is no treatment possible, so the small blind spot they see today could become a big scotoma tomorrow.



Figure 1.3 Examples of visual inputs as seen by a retina, Wet Macular Degeneration and Dry Macular Degeneration

1.4.2 Preferred Retinal Locus (PRL)

Our brain is capable of adapting to changes in environment, thanks to the plastic nature of our brain. As a result of MD, fovea (responsible for fixation stability and focus) is lost. Naturally, to fulfil this damage, an adaptive strategy is built by the brain by trying to see through the residual vision in periphery. Eccentric fixations in MD individuals has been described for more than fifty years (Von Noorden and Mackensen (1962)). MD patients learn to use eccentric retina at a discrete area called the Preferred Retinal Locus (PRL) (Crossland et al. (2005)). It can also be described as a distinct area of retina that contains the central target of an image for greater than 20% of fixation interval (Whittaker et al. (1988)). It is possible that a patient of MD use more than one PRL depending upon the task (Lei and Schuchard (1997), Fletcher and Schuchard (1997), Guez et al. (1993), Crossland et al. (2005)). The location of PRL is subject and task dependent and it is not possible to predict its position as it may also change from time to time (Erbezci and Ozturk (2018), Denniss et al. (2017)). Figure 1.4 is a nice example of demonstrating PRL taken from a study by MIT about the changes in brain as a result of PRL formation. In the figure, a blind zone is shown within 10 degrees of visual angle at the central visual field. Since the central visual field is damaged, the fovea is also damaged and hence the subject is unable to fixate using fovea. Thanks to the natural ability of developing a PRL, subject has developed a PRL in the healthy part of retina (outside 10 degrees and inside 20 degrees of visual angle).

1.5 Rehabilitation techniques for Macular Degeneration

MD is one of the leading causes of blindness, particularly in adult population due to Agerelated macular degeneration or AMD, all over the world including developed countries (Wykoff (2019), Sabel et al. (2019)). Unfortunately, to-date there is no effective treatment for the disease. therefore, along with finding a solution to bring the damaged retina back in form, most of the focus of studies related to MD is on either minimizing the progressive damage through drugs, nutrition or exercises (Keenan et al. (2019), Chew et al. (2012), Martin et al. (2012)) or developing rehabilitation techniques to minimize the effects of impairment (Nguyen et al. (2009), Palmer et al. (2010), Park (1999), Daibert-Nido et al. (2019)). Since, the medication and surgery have not shown any worth mentioning improvements, therefore, the focus is always on low-vision rehabilitation options. Among the typical rehabilitation techniques used for MD are the assessment of residual functional retina and vision (Şahlı and İdil (2019), Morimoto et al. (2006), Hanout et al. (2015)), identifying preferred retinal locus



Figure 1.4 Presentation of PRL outside the blind zone

(PRL) and training for its active use as a pseudo fovea (Deruaz et al. (2002), Rohrschneider et al. (2008), Seiple et al. (2011)) and certain rehabilitation programs offered at specialized centers for specific skills like driving or education (Radvay et al. (2007), Hooper et al. (2008)). These examples are just a few from the massive research already in progress for this disease. These techniques have proven to bring a small change in life of these patients especially in terms of learning to use their residual vision that has improved their reading and orientation skills and learning to move their eyes to an extent where they can see the missing information due to scotoma. However, the focus of these rehabilitation techniques is mainly on visual modality only i.e. learning to use residual vision by means of visual aids and visual search techniques.

Around four decades ago, Paul Bach-y-Rita and his team published a short article that presented a natural, but yet, novel idea: people deprived of one sensory modality (vision, for example) can gain access to the missing sensory information, thanks to another intact sensory modality by transforming the missing information in the remaining one (Bach-y Rita et al. (1969)). Bach-y-Rita believed in the idea that *"We see with our brain, not with our eyes"*, and this was proved by him in his later works that if the missing information is provided by another modality, our multi-sensory brain capable of calibrating itself to translate the transformed information. In sighted persons the multi-sensory brain is hardwired to integrate the information coming from visual, auditory and spatial sensory modalities to build a nice

picture of environment around us. In several studies it has been shown that visual cortex of blind persons is recruited by auditory cortex to represent audio-spatial information received (Rauschecker (1995), Collignon et al. (2013), Voss et al. (2004)). As intuited by Bach-y-Rita and colleagues (Bach-y Rita et al. (1969)) the concept of seeing through brain has been taken ahead and now-a-days blind people can actually see through their brain by using certain assistive rehabilitation devices that make them able to perceive the space around them as better as a sighted person can do. For example, "ABBI", which is an Audio Bracelet for Blind Interaction. It can be wore on hand as bracelet and provides audio feedback enabling blind children to explore their body dimensions in space (Finocchietti et al. (2015)), "The vOICe", which converts visual information from images into audio information for blind people (Ward and Meijer (2010)), similarly Johnson and Higgins (2006) have presented a device for blind individuals that can convert visual information into tactile information (Johnson and Higgins (2006)) and "EyeMusic", which is another visual to auditory sensory substitution device for blinds (Abboud et al. (2014)) to name a few.

Combining the above two concepts i.e. rehabilitation for Macular Degeneration and development of multisensoy integration techniques for rehabilitation, we have taken an idea to do a multisensory rehabilitation for patients suffering from MD. To-date all the rehabilitation protocols available for MD focus on effective development of PRL using visual tasks and training protocols. Knowing that our brain is capable of doing multisensory integration and that even in sighted people there is some sort of multimodal integration and peripheral regions of visual cortex gets mild recruitment from auditory cortex, in this study we have presented a rehabilitation protocol that aims to develop an effective PRL by integrating sound and proprioception along with residual vision.

1.6 Objective of thesis

In light of the state-of-art described in first chapter of this dissertation, in the first part, technical details of devices used in the following parts is provided. We have presented two devices: (I): ARENA to understand the role of audio modality on space representation due to a central scotoma. ARENA is a 2-D matrix (5x5) of speakers covered with tactile sensors. The device is capable of producing sounds and recording response positions; thanks to the tactile sensors. As an application, we have elaborated an application of ARENA in details in Chapter 3 for MD individuals; (II): AVT device which is designed to improve the audio and visual localization bias in MD patients. AVT is composed of an LED and a buzzer

which provides visual and auditory feedbacks respectively. AVT can be an effective device to develop PRL (Preferred Retinal Locus) or pseudo fovea in the residual healthy part of retina.

In the second part, an audio-spatial behavioural task to understand how audio and spatial representations are effected as a result of scotoma is MD patients is presented. ARENA device is used to perform an audio localization experiment with MD individuals and sighted controls. The results of this study shows that audio and spatial perception is altered as a result of scotoma and sounds are biased towards the scotoma positions in audio-spatial maps of these individuals.

In the third part of this dissertation we have described a rehabilitation protocol called Intelligent Audio Visual Thumble Training (IVATT) that involves audio, visual and proprioceptive feedbacks from visual field in peripersonal space to help MD individuals develop an effective PRL, thanks to audio and proprioceptary feedbacks from the Audio Visual Thumble (AVT) device designed to provide multisensory feedback while exploring the space for rehabilitation of MD individuals.

Chapter 2

Seeing, Hearing and feeling scotoma through technology

2.1 We see with our brain, not with our eyes

Around four decades ago, Paul Bach-y-Rita and his team published a short article that presented a natural, but yet, novel idea: people deprived of one sensory modality (vision, for example) can gain access to the missing sensory information, thanks to another intact sensory modality by transforming the missing information in the remaining one (Bach-y Rita et al. (1969)). Bach-y-Rita believed in the idea that "We see with our brain, not with our eyes", and this was proved by him in his later works that if the missing information is provided by another modality, our multi-sensory brain capable of calibrating itself to translate the transformed information. In sighted persons the multi-sensory brain is hardwired to integrate the information coming from visual, auditory and spatial sensory modalities to build a nice picture of environment around us. In several studies it has been shown that visual cortex of blind persons is recruited by auditory cortex to represent audio-spatial information received (Rauschecker (1995), Collignon et al. (2013), Voss et al. (2004)). As intuited by Bach-y-Rita and colleagues (Bach-y Rita et al. (1969)) the concept of seeing through brain has been taken ahead and now-a-days blind people can actually see through their brain by using certain assistive rehabilitation devices that make them able to perceive the space around them as better as a sighted person can do. For example to name a few of them, "ABBI", which is an Audio Bracelet for Blind Interaction. It can be wore on hand as bracelet and provides audio feedback enabling blind children to explore their body dimensions in space (Finocchietti et al. (2015)). Another one is "The vOICe", which converts visual information from images into audio information for blind people (Ward and Meijer (2010)). Similarly Johnson and Higgins

(2006) have presented a device for blind individuals that can convert visual information into tactile information (Johnson and Higgins (2006)) and "EyeMusic", which is another visual to auditory sensory substitution device for blinds (Abboud et al. (2014)).

Taking the idea further, we designed two new technologies for individuals with Macular Degeneration (MD). With this pathology they develop a central scotoma or blind spot on their retina. In this chapter, we present the two devices that are; 1). ARENA which is an audio-tactile matrix of speakers covered with tactile sensors, and is used to understand the audio-spatial representation in MD participants, and we found an audio localization bias in these participants using ARENA device (Ahmad et al. (2019)), and 2). AVT or Audio Visual Thumble device which is a small, low technology device used as a rehabilitative training to improve audio and visual localization bias.

2.2 ARENA - An audio-spatial matrix

ARENA is an audio-tactile device capable of providing audio-spatial feedbacks. The device consists of a 5x5 matrix (dimension 50x50x10 cm) of 25 blocks (each block dimension 10x10 cm). Each block consists of a speaker in center covered by 16 haptic pads. These blocks are interconnected in cascade through USB terminals. The blocks are compact placed in the form of a vertical 2-D board. ARENA is shown in Figure 2.1, where the left side shows image of device in form of 2-D vertical blocks and on the right are shown a subsection of four blocks. Each block in Figure 2.1 is highlighted by numbers 1,2,3 and 4 for the ease of understanding.

2.2.1 Design

Each block of ARENA is connected in cascade fashion to another via two types of cables. One set of cables are cylindrical connectors that are responsible for power transfer from one block to the other as shown in Figure 2.2A and the other set of cables are micro-USB cables that are responsible for data transfer in cascade design of blocks (Figure 2.2B). Next section explains how data and power are supplied to the cascaded block network.

2.2.2 Building Blocks

ARENA device has a modular architecture and works as a composition of three main modules that are shown in the form of a block diagram in Figure 2.3. The three main modules are: PC, HOST and SLAVE module as discussed below.



Figure 2.1 The ARENA. It is a 2-D matrix (5x5) of 25 blocks, each block consists of a speaker in center covered by 16 tactile sensors. On the left is represented the device in its entirety, while the right part of the figure represent a subsection of it, in which each block is highlighted by numbers 1, 2, 3 and 4 for the ease of understanding.



Figure 2.2 Cabling System. A. Power connections (micro-USB connectors). B. Data connections (cylindrical connectors)

PC (Windows / LINUX)

Commands from the PC are sent via serial port (RS232) to the HOST module. Commands to run the speakers are produced using MATLAB (Mathworks.Inc) software. Sound card of PC is used to send sounds to HOST module via AUX cable.

HOST

HOST is responsible for data exchange with PC via serial network (RS485) interface that guarantees a great reliability for the distance. All the modules are in parallel on the same line (multi-drop configuration). A wire from either of end terminals of compact blocks matrix is connected to one interface of HOST and the other interface to the PC. Hence, the commands are sent by the PC through a virtual serial port to the speakers through a RS485 interface. With Windows, it is possible to identify this serial port by opening the device manager, by looking at which port is activated when the USB is connected to the PC. The "HOST" card is connected to the 220Vac power supply, to the PC using the appropriate USB connector, and to an audio source (whether it is the same PC or not). The USB port also provides power to the module.

SLAVE

Each SLAVE unit consists of a NTS board and a CBM 8x8 which together makes a single haptic block. NTS or New Tactile Sensor board produces vibrations by Vibrating DC Coreless Motor. CBM board is 10x10 cm in size and it reads the sensitive capacitors matrix and makes them available to the NTS board. Each module has 16 capacitive tactile sensors. Auditory signals generated by PC are processed by a 3W class C amplifier. This is led by a digital potentiometer for volume modification. A DSPIC33FJ128MC802 microcontroller controls both the amplifier and potentiometer. All connected devices are connected via I/O ports and the CBM board by a 12C port. This system is provided with an external power source.





2.2.3 Communication procedure

The high-speed communication protocol (250Kbaud) guarantees the execution of commands in a few tens of microseconds, must also allow the activation and deactivation of stimuli and the reading of haptic sensors independently and in any combination on the chain.

Therefore, the microcontroller must verify that the command is intended for its section, execute it and return an answer when requested. The NTs compute always the message after the end byte. If the same command has to be sent to all the boards connected to the BUS, it is sufficient to use the broadcast address. Otherwise, if you wish to control just some boards or if you want to send different commands to one or more boards, the commands have to be chained together one after the other. In this case, each command will have its own bytes of start, address and end but only the last command will have the end byte.

Hence, the communication procedure is based on the exchange of commands with a specific format:

- A starting byte.
- A byte that indicates the address of the board to which the message is intended.
- A byte indicating the command.
- An ending byte.

2.2.4 Applications

ARENA is a novel technological innovation that can constitute a starting point for new clinical procedures for blind and visually impaired adults and children. It allows understanding the spatial behaviour of these groups towards sounds. Its ability to record the responses (thanks to haptic blocks) makes it novel in the sense that unlike previous sound localization techniques, which rely on verbal response from the subject, it can actually record the positions of responses in the form of x, y coordinates. One major application of this device is discussed in Chapter 3 in detail where it is used to understand the audio-spatial localization for people with central scotoma. Another, significant application of this device is shown by Setti et al. (2018) where authors have studied spatial memory skills in blind individuals through the auditory modality. ARENA is used to produce different sounds from real world and subjects are asked to memorize the sequence of sounds produced and touch the device from where they perceived sounds were produced in the same order as auditory stimuli. There are many

other ways in which this device can be used to study audio-spatial and visual correlations in different groups of subjects.

2.2.5 Limitations

Being a preliminary device with the idea of studying effects of scotoma on auditory modality, ARENA comes with certain limitations. One of the limitations of the device is the serial reproduction of sounds: it is not possible to send multiple sounds at the same time. Other limitations are; the dimensions of this device covers only ± 47.47 degrees of visual angle while sitting at a distance of 30 cm and that it is not a handy device to use with elderly population because the height of the device is not adjustable.

2.2.6 Future of ARENA

There is a big room for bringing improvements in the design, technology and applications of this device. For the design perspective, we are working to improve not only the size of ARENA (so it can cover larger visual angles) but also works are in progress to bring the depth dimension into the new design as well. For the technical perspective, works are in progress for developing new handy device on the similar concept of ARENA and also capable of processing multiple auditory stimuli at a time. From the applications perspective, visual feedbacks can also be added along with auditory and haptic modalities in order to better understand the multi-sensory integration phenomenon. Also, in a broader perspective, ARENA can be used to study sensory motor cognition, thanks to its audio spatial feedbacks.

2.3 AVT - An audio-visual ring with spatially and temporally congruent feedback

The Audio Visual Thumble (AVT), is a device that incorporates auditory and visual feedbacks, by means of a high integration buzzer and a high brightness red LED, respectively. The device was created to be worn on a phalanx, preferably the index, to allow people with visual dysfunctions to practice developing the ability to identify targets outside or at the edge of the visual field, associating the multisensory information coming from the device with the own movement. In other words, AVT is a multisensory rehabilitation device that allow integrating auditory, visual and proprioceptive (motion) information together. As a possible rehabilitative application of this device, we decided to use it in patients with with visual


Figure 2.4 AVT device with housing for biocompatible material seen from above (left) and from below (right)

impairments, specifically with scotoma. In Chapter 4, I will describe how AVT has been used within a rehabilitation training, called Intelligent Visual Audio Thumble Training (IVATT). The device's front and back side with housing for biocompatible materials is shown in Figure 2.4. These multisensory modalities are aimed to make the patients suffering from Macular Degeneration (MD) aware of their own scotoma by exploring the space. As mentioned in Section 2.1, the idea of this device is to help develop a pseudo fovea by using audio and proprioceptry senses along with residual vision.

2.3.1 Design and working

AVT integrates two disposable 3V tablet batteries, a Buzzer (SMA-13 multi-application buzzer, sound pressure = 75 dB, operating voltage = 1.5 to 24 Vdc, operating current = 1.8 mA) integrated inside a driver to generate the square wave necessary for the production of a Tone and a red LED with high brightness (SMD chip LED lamp, 1.6×0.8 mm, 4W, Hyper red). The schematic diagram for AVT circuit is shown in Figure 2.5.



Figure 2.5 Schematic diagram for AVT device

Figure 2.4 shows a photograph of the device, both from the top and from the bottom. The system has two buttons, one to operate the LED and one to operate the buzzer both in continuous mode. The system can be installed on an index, middle or ring finger using a velcro strap that must be made pass through the tabs located at the bottom of the device. The system uses two CR1220 type batteries. Once activated, the device produces a sound tone and a red light near the end of the phalanx. The subject wearing AVT is seated in front of a 70cm x 70cm panel having black Archimedean spirals on a white background. The subject explores the panel with his finger while taking advantage of feedbacks from LED and buzzer with a sole purpose to increase visibility in the healthy parts of retina.

2.3.2 Device modes

Figure 2.6 shows a detail on the switches, in particular on the switch for the LED (L) and for the buzzer (B). At the bottom of Figure 2.6, the switch activation configuration is shown. When the switch is on facing downwards (towards the rounded edge towards the bottom of the LED) it is considered inactive (OFF). Vice versa when the switch is positioned upwards it is considered active (ON). AVT allows to select whether to activate only the LED or the LED and the buzzer together. To select the desired mode it is necessary to refer to the following table, which shows all 4 possible combinations of the switches, and the operating status of the device.

Once the rehabilitation activity has been carried out, the device is switched off by returning the two switches L and B to OFF position (both).

2.3.3 Battery replacement

AVT is equipped with a plastic case that can be opened in order to allow the exchange of the batteries. The batteries are considered exhausted when the LED light fades and the sound produced from the buzzer it decreased in intensity until the battery is completely exhausted. As shown in Figure 2.7, the battery can be easily replaced like a battery for a toy. On the back side of the device, the plastic housing can be slided to split the device into A and B (as shown in the figure). Once separated, the twin batteries can be replaced by new ones by sliding the old ones under the pin as shown in the Figure 2.7.



Figure 2.6 Indication of the switches, their status and positioning of the output devices, the LED and the buzzer

L	B	Device Mode	
		Device turned OFF	
OFF	OFF	Battery disconnected	
		LED OFF, Buzzer OFF	
		Device turned ON	
ON	OFF	Battery connected	
		LED ON, Buzzer OFF	
		Device turned OFF	
OFF	ON	Battery disconnected	
		LED OFF, Buzzer OFF	
	ON	Device turned ON	
ON		Battery connected	
		LED ON, Buzzer ON	

Table 2.1 AVT Device Modes



Figure 2.7 Opening the device case to allow battery change

2.3.4 Risks and Precautions

The AVT device has intrinsically low risk of harm to the user, because is made using watertight switches, is low voltage, has a case protection and consists solely of an LED, an oscillator circuit and a buzzer. Nevertheless, particular attention must be paid during use to avoid malfunction and avoid actions that may also cause a failure also serious damage to the user. An instruction manual is provided with the device and the experimenter has to take special care of risk and safety instructions. To avoid, categorically the use of AVT when:

- 1. The user's upper limbs are wet. The hands, upper limbs and face must be dry or at most moderately sweaty.
- 2. The user is in the water even with only his lower limbs immersed.
- 3. The ambient temperature of the place of use is above 40 $^{\circ}$ C.
- 4. The ambient temperature of the place of use is below $-10 \circ C$.

2.3.5 Applications and future of AVT

AVT is a preliminary device of its kind that is designed with an idea of providing rehabilitation training to individuals with visual impairments by integrating audio and spatial sensory

modalities. In Chapter 4, I will talk about a rehabilitation training using AVT for patients with scotoma. As the very first step, this idea can be led further to investigate the multisensory integration and rehabilitation for these patients.

There is a big room for improvements in AVT device. In terms of design, the device can be designed in a more user friendly manner and can be improved to meet the local ethical committee standards so that patients can use it at home as well. In terms of technology, though AVT is a very simple device, however it can be incorporated with a smart phone to make it more customized and user friendly. Nevertheless, AVT is a first step forward and we hope that it will open doors to new dimensions of rehabilitation for people suffering from Macular Degeneration.

2.4 Summary

Rehabilitation techniques for individuals with central scotoma, as a result of AMD, generally involves training to learn to develop a pseudo fovea in healthy part of their retina (Midena et al. (2018)). Hence, the focus of these techniques is visual modality only. We present a concept of multi-sensory integration techniques, which involves the audio modality to quantify the visual deficit (ARENA) and train it by using a multisensory training (AVT). The concept of multi-sensory integration and sensory substitution devices for blind individual's has been investigated in past, in fact there are many rehabilitative and assistive devices for blind adults (Setti et al. (2018), Nelson et al. (2018)) and children (Martolini et al. (2018), Cappagli et al. (2018)). On the other hand, this concept has never been used for the screening and rehabilitation of individuals with visual degeneration as MD. Here, we present two devices: (I): ARENA to understand the role of audio modality on space representation due to a central scotoma. ARENA is a 2-D matrix (5x5) of speakers covered with tactile sensors. The device is capable of producing sounds and recording response positions; thanks to the tactile sensors. As an application, we have elaborated an application of ARENA in details in Chapter 3 for MD individuals; (II): AVT device which is designed to improve the audio and visual localization bias in MD patients. AVT is composed of an LED and a buzzer which provides visual and auditory feedbacks respectively. AVT can be an effective device to develop PRL (Preferred Retinal Locus) or pseudo fovea in the residual healthy part of retina.

Chapter 3

Effect on audio-space representation due to Macular Degeneration

3.1 Audio-space representation and scotoma

The visual cortex of sighted individuals responds mainly to visual inputs. These individuals show a reset in visual cortex caused by an auditory phase shift. This kind of cross modal changes is extensively present in visual cortex (Mercier et al. (2013), Keil and Senkowski (2018)). Studies have shown that sighted people have multisensory interactions between sensory modalities in human primary cortices (Martuzzi et al. (2006), Romei et al. (2009)). On the other hand, for blind individuals the visual cortex processes audio and tactile signals as spatial information. This multisensory integration makes them able to navigate around and understand spatial environments, which is the basic phenomenon behind rehabilitative techniques for blind individuals (Budzynski et al. (2007), Collignon et al. (2009), Collignon et al. (2013)). This cortical reorganization in blindness is associated with the enhanced abilities of blind individuals in processing audio information such as sound localization in the azimuth location (Röder et al. (2007), Voss et al. (2004)). However, blind individuals are not always better in the audio processing than sighted individuals and in some cases they show strong impairments in audio space representation tasks such as in the spatial bisection task or in the dynamic sound localization (Gori et al. (2014), Finocchietti et al. (2015)). To date, it is not clear why some skills are enhanced and some other impaired. More in general, an open question is the start of cortical and perceptual reorganization after the beginning of the visual impairment.

These studies on blindness are limited to studying cortical representations after visual loss. We consider this as a *stable* system and it does not allow for study of the mechanisms

that subtend the progress of cross-sensory plastic changes. To fill this gap, we studied audio spatial reorganization in individuals with macular degeneration (MD). For these individuals the loss of vision due to scotoma or black spot is still an ongoing progressive process. MD is an irreversible retinal disorder that damages the retina and produces scotoma (blind spots) on the eye cutting inputs on corresponding visual cortical representations. Depending upon the pathology, scotoma can be central or peripheral, hereditary (also called juvenile macular degeneration JMD), or age-related (AMD). More in general, retinal damage increases with time and thus the scotoma size (Schuchard (2005), Hassan et al. (2002)). This condition makes MD an ideal condition to study the mechanisms that subtend audio spatial reorganization.

Our study involves 18 adults suffering from MD with central visual loss. They performed an audio-spatial task in which auditory stimuli were presented at different points of the audiotactile device called ARENA (ARENA is discussed in detail in Chapter 2), considering central and peripheral regions (visual angles 23,73 and 47.47 degrees respectively) at a distance of 30 cm. We hypothesize that if the absence of vision has a direct and immediate effect on the cross-modal reorganization of spatial audio perception, there should be a distortion of audio processing within the scotoma zone in MD but not in sighted individuals. Results of our study support this hypothesis showing that loss of vision produces changes in the processing of spatial audio signals in MD patients. There is a strong bias in audio-spatial representation as lateral sounds are "attracted" towards the blind zones. This result suggests that audio space representation is a fast and plastic mechanism starting after visual loss.

3.2 Audio localization experiment

3.2.1 Participants

A total of 36 participants were tested divided in two groups: the experimental group composed by 18 participants with MD (*mean age*: 66.28, *standard deviation*: 21.74) and control group of 18 typical participants (*mean age*: 53.72, *standard deviation*: 19.55), *unpaired* t - test(t = 1.58, df = 33.55, p = 0.12) performed the experiment (see details in Table 3.1).

All MD participants had a central vision loss due to scotoma caused by different diseases as reported in Table 3.1. Some of these participants were born with congenital retinal diseases (JMD, e.g., RP) leading to slow degeneration of the retina and development of central scotoma with growing age, while others were suffering from AMD; hence developing a scotoma in one or both eyes in later years of life. All these patients were recruited from *Istituto David Chiossone* based in Genoa, Italy. Since all these participants were suffering from central vision loss (central scotoma). These participants were part of a rehabilitation program where they were learning to fixate with their preferred retinal locus (PRL) instead of damaged fovea using certain rehabilitation training techniques. All necessary participant's data (history, visual acuity, disease, dominant eye, PRL, fixation stability, and retinal maps) were obtained from the ophthalmologist and rehabilitators at "Istituto David Chiossone" as shown in Table 3.1.

The dominant eye of sighted participants was determined prior to the experiment using the classic dominant eye test (Heiting, 2017). This is a simple test with which a person can find his/her own dominant or preferred eye. It involves extending the arms to create a triangular opening between thumbs and forefingers. It is done by placing hand together at an angle of 45 degrees. Then, with both eyes open, the triangular opening is centered at a distant object (e.g. wall clock). In this position, each eye is closed (one at a time). Dominant eye would be the one with which the fixated object still stays in center of triangle made with hands.

 Diceace	Duration of Disease	Vi	isual Acu	ity	Dominant Fvo
DIBCASC	$(\mathbf{Y^{**}})$	Left*	Right*	Both*	
Glaucoma	15	1/20	1/20	1/20	Right
AMD	03-04	1-2/10	Blind	1-2/10	Left
Myopia + Maculopathy	02	Blind	1/15	1/15	Right
Myopia	15	1/10	Blind	1/10	Left
Maculopathy + RP	Congenital	1	1-2/10	1	Right
AMD	15	I	I	I	Right
Maculopathy + AMD	15	1/100	1/10	1/10	Right
Maculopathy + AMD	10	1/20	1/10	1/10	Right
Maculopathy + AMD	20	1/50	1/100	1/50	Left
AMD	30	1/20	Blind	1/20	Left
RP	Congenital	1/20	Blind	1/20	Right
AMD	05	1/10	1/100	1/10	Left
AMD	07-08	1/20	1/20	1/20	Right
Myopia	20	1/20	Blind	1/20	Left
AMD	10	1/50	Blind	1/50	Left
Maculopathy	03	ı	I	I	Left
Glaucoma	26	ı	I	I	Right
JMD	08	ı	ı	ı	Right

Table 3.1 Characteristics of MD participants (visual acuity for P06, P16, P17, and P18 are not reported as the hospital was unable to provide a VA record for these participants), *eye , **years



Figure 3.1 The device and simulation of device

3.2.2 Task

For the audio localization task we used ARENA device (as discussed in Chapter 2). In summary, ARENA is an audio-tactile device capable of providing spatial and auditory feedbacks. The device consists of a 5x5 matrix (dimension 50x50x10 cm) of 25 blocks (each block dimension 10x10 cm). Each block consists of a speaker in center covered by 16 haptic pads. These blocks are interconnected in cascade through USB terminals. The blocks are compact placed in the form of a vertical 2-D board. (Figure 3.1).

Before starting the experiment, fixation stability and a retinal map of each patient were obtained using the Nidek MP-1 Retinal Microperimetry (NIDEK TECHNOLOGIES SRI) with the help of a rehabilitator at Istituto David Chiossone. The retinal images provided by microperimetry covered a visual angle of ± 20 degrees (region where the central scotoma was present). Since all the MD participants had vision loss due to central scotoma, ARENA matrix was virtually divided into central and peripheral parts as shown in Figure 3.1 (right side). The red highlighted part mimics the center of the eye (covering a visual angle of ± 23.7 degrees) while the green highlighted part mimics the periphery (covering visual angle of ± 47.47 degrees) subtended from a distance of 30 cm. None of the subjects were aware of the virtual division of the matrix.

Participants sat straight at a distance of 30 cm from the ARENA with their eyes positioned in front of the fixation point in the center of matrix (see Figure 3.1). The height of ARENA was adjusted according to each participant so that fixation point remains at eye level. During the experiment, participants were instructed to always fixate (with dominant eye) at the marked fixation point in the center of the ARENA. To fix the fixation point, MD participants



Figure 3.2 Experimental Design

were asked to use their PRL, while controls used their fovea. Participants listened to a white noise sound of the duration of 1 s. Participants were asked to touch, with the index finger of the dominant hand, the perceived position of the sound. Once pressed the tactile sensors, a feedback sound ("meow" of a cat) was reproduced from the central speaker to notify end the trial. Thus, the subject was allowed to bring his/her finger back to resting position. A pause of 3 s was inserted between trials (Figure 4.4). Each position (speaker) was repeated 3 times randomly, for a total of 72 trials (central speaker marked as fixation point only produced feedback sound). A training session was also run until subject understood the task before starting of actual experiment.

3.2.3 Participant's responses on ARENA

As mentioned earlier, ARENA was virtually divided into central and peripheral parts as shown on the right side of Figure 3.1. At a distance of 30 cm from the eye, central part (red) subtends an angle of ± 23.7 on the eye (which is the center of eye as recorded from retinal maps of microperimetry), and peripheral region (green) subtends an angle of ± 47.47 degrees (covering the periphery of the eye). To determine the scotoma position, the fixation stability of subjects and the exact visual angle subtended by the scotoma, we collected retinal maps (Chen et al. (2009) for all the MD participants (see Figure 3.3 left for an example of retinal maps in two participants). Subject responses were recorded over the ARENA matrix and are shown as a function of visual angles in relation with the fixation point on the ARENA (Figure 3.3). As an example, in Figure 3.3 (central panel) are provided responses of the two



Figure 3.3 Responses of four participants recorded on ARENA. On the left the results of two participants of the MD group and on the right the results of two participants of the control group are shown

MD participants (whose retinal maps are presented on the left) and two sighted individuals. While for sighted individuals (Figure 3.3, blue dots) the responses for sound localization are equally distributed on the surface, the responses of the MD participants (Figure 3.3, red dots), were mainly localized on the central region, namely where the scotoma was present suggesting an attraction of sound toward the scotoma position.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 General Results

First, to check that responses of both groups are a result of stimulus and not just random responses over the device, we calculated distance errors. Distance error is the distance between stimulus position (speaker that produces sound) and response position (position where the participant touch to localize the sound). We found that for central stimuli i.e. when the speaker of central region produce sound (CS), the distance errors for MD and control groups are 9.86 and 9.74 cm, respectively, while for the peripheral stimuli i.e. when the

speaker of peripheral region produces sound (PS) the distance errors are 15.8 and 14 cm, respectively. As mentioned in section Audio localization experiment, and shown in Figure 3.1, the distance between two speakers on the ARENA is 10 cm. Hence, for both conditions (CS and PS) the distance error is within 15 cm showing that responses correspond to stimuli and are not random.

Next, we computed response behaviours for independent condition (MD v/s sighted) and dependent condition (CR v/s PR). To quantify the sensory precision and the bias in sound localization (i.e., the sound attraction toward the scotoma position), responses were subdivided as central responses (CR) and peripheral responses (PR), considering the central and peripheral portions of the ARENA (Figure 3.1), respectively. Then, we computed the hits and misses chart for responses in each region and lastly, we studied the correlations between responses, age and scotoma duration. These results are explained one by one below.

3.3.2 Responses in MD and Sighted groups

A significant difference between CR and PR was found in MD participants with a higher number of responses in the CR than in the PR. A mixed model *ANOVA* (2x2) was performed with the group as *between* factor (two levels, *sighted* and *MD*), and *position* as *within* factor (two levels, *CR* and *PR*). A significant interaction was found between *group* and *position* [F(1,34) = 6.79, p = 0.02]. Post hoc t - tests revealed that MD individuals tend to touch the central speakers (CS) more compared to the sighted individuals (MD: *mean* = 45.56, *SEM* = 3.18, Controls: *mean* = 34.72, *SEM* = 2.67, un-paired t - test, t = 2.58, df = 33.01, p = 0.014), while sighted participants tend to touch the peripheral speakers more compared to the MD individuals (MD: *mean* = 26.45, *SEM* = 3.18, Controls: *mean* = 37.56, *SEM* = 2.72, un-paired t - test; t = -2.65, df = 33.19, p = 0.012). Also, MD individuals touched more the central rather than the peripheral speakers (CR: *mean* = 45.56, *SEM* = 3.18; PR: *mean* = 26.45, *SEM* = 3.18, paired t - test: t = 3.01, df = 17, p = 0.008). Sighted participants respond equally in the CR and PR (CR: *mean* = 34.72, *SEM* = 2.67; PR: *mean* = 37.56, *SEM* = 2.72, paired t - test: t = -0.53, df = 17, p = 0.61).

In order to get a detailed picture of how CR are comparable to PR, we implemented in R the methods developed by Rousselet et al. (2017). First, we extracted all the deciles and medians of distributions in each condition (CR and PR) and for each group (MD and controls) as shown in Figure 3.4 (A,B), respectively. The horizontal lines represent the nine deciles with a thicker line showing the median of each condition, the dots represent each participant.



Figure 3.4 Differences in CR and PR for (A) MD and (B) control groups



Figure 3.5 Scatter plot for differences in CR and PR (central line is a reference line CR = PR) for (A) MD have a greater percentage for CR than PR and (B) control group respond symmetrically around the reference line

Figure 3.5 (A,B) also show the link between two conditions in terms of decile differences, the thicker line represents the difference in medians for two conditions. The black diagonal shows line of no effect with slope one and intercept zero as reference line (CR = PR). Quartiles of two conditions are shown by the dashed lines. Here, it is important to mention that since the total number of trials is constant (i.e., 72), CR and PR are negatively related (CR = 72 - PR). This means that if a subject responds more in the center (CR), the value of PR automatically reduces and vice versa, hence a negative correlation between CR and PR. For the MD group, Figure 3.5A shows differences that are quite scattered from the center. Whereas for controls, Figure 3.5B shows that the differences are rather symmetrically grouped around the central line revealing that the probability of having subjects with positive or negative differences between conditions are similar.

3.3.3 Responses in Central and Peripheral positions

Figure 3.6 (A,B) show the two marginal distributions in the form of a strip chart for each condition (CR and PR), respectively. The spread of the dots for each group (MD and Control) is proportional to the local density of responses recorded for the said condition (CR or PR). The vertical lines show the deciles for each group with the thicker line showing the median of distributions. For instance, Figure 3.6A shows the distributions for two groups when the responses were recorded in the center (CR). For MD, the median of responses is 42.5 and for C median is equal to 36.5; hence the marginal difference is +6. As can be seen in Figure 3.6A, there is a shift between the distributions of the two groups: the deciles of MD are systematically greater compared to the Control group. The difference in deciles is positive and is represented by orange lines joining corresponding deciles for each group. Decile values for first and ninth decile are +10.82 and +17.67, respectively as shown in Figure 3.6A. Similarly, Figure 3.6B shows the marginal distributions in the similar fashion as that of Figure 3.6A but for the PR condition. It is evident from Figure 3.6B that the shift between distributions is opposite in PR condition compared to CR condition, as expected because CR = 72 - PR. MD group is shifted to lower values (*median* = 29.5 and controls have higher values *median* = 35.5). The difference in the medians is -6 and the corresponding deciles are joined by purple lines showing a negative shift. This means that MD participants show dominance in CR condition compared to Controls and vice versa for PR condition.



Figure 3.6 Differences between groups; MD and Controls for (A) CR and (B) PR

3.3.4 Hits and Misses chart

We also performed supplementary analysis as an evidence that subjects actually responded to the stimulus and did not make random responses on the device, a Hits and Misses matrix was computed for the two groups. Figure 3.7 shows the matrix computed to evaluate the percentage of responses. CS and PS represent the Central Stimulus and Peripheral Stimulus, respectively while CR and PR represent the CR and PR, respectively. The 2x2 matrix show the responses against the stimuli in terms of percentage. Percentage for CS (first column) is computed as the total number of responses when the sound was produced from CS divided by the total number of trials in the center (9 speakers x 3 trials each = 24). Similarly, the percentage value for PS (second column) is computed as the total number of responses when sound was produced in the periphery divided by total number of trials in the periphery (16x3 = 48). For instance, index (1,1) of the matrix shows the percentage of responses when both the stimulus and response were central, index (2,1) shows the percentage of responses when the stimulus was central but the response was peripheral, index (1,2) is the case when the stimulus was peripheral but the response was central and lastly, index (2,2) is the case when both stimulus and response were peripheral. Figure 3.7A represents that MD participants had a higher percentage to respond in center for central stimulus compared to Controls group (Figure 3.7B). The higher accuracy for the MD group can be explained as



Figure 3.7 Hits and misses chart. (A) MD group. (B) Control group

since this group has a higher tendency to respond in the center, they have a higher probability to respond to central stimulus. This can also be explained in terms of peripheral stimuli. The percentage to respond correctly for peripheral stimuli is lower in MD compared to controls because MD group respond more frequently in the center. The same is true for incorrect responses as well. For the MD group, the percentage of correct responses in the center is almost double to the percentage of correct responses in periphery, which confirms the dominance to respond in the center. For controls group, the percentage of correct responses are almost equal, again as an evidence that they are not attracted toward any specific region, hence they are equally probable for correct and incorrect responses. A chi-square test of independence was performed using a 2x2 contingency table to examine the relationship between stimuli (CS, PS) and responses (CR, PR). For MD group, the relation between these variables was significant, X2 (1, N = 18) = 17.33, p = 0.0003. Responses in center are more likely than periphery to be able to for both central and peripheral stimuli.

3.3.5 Correlations

To fully take advantage of MD as a model for audio-spatial representation and to provide more information about the mechanisms of multisensory recalibration we have analyzed the correlation between scotoma duration and sound attraction. This correlation is analyzed by defining two parameters: Percentage of CR: which is calculated as CR/72 * 100 (where 72 is the total number of trials); and the onset of scotoma that indicates when the scotoma was diagnosed in the first instance (Table 3.1); it is equal to the difference between the age



Figure 3.8 Pearson's Correlations. (A) Correlation between onset age and percentage of CR. (B) Correlation between scotoma duration and percentage of CR. (C) Correlation between age of MD group and percentage of CR. (D) Correlation between age of controls group and percentage of CR.

of patient and duration of the scotoma (for how long the subject has had the scotoma). A positive trend in correlation (Pearson's coefficient r = 0.47, p = 0.051) is found between the Percentage of CR and the onset age of the scotoma (Figure 3.8A). Results suggest that there is a trend in correlation between attraction toward the scotoma (CR) and clinical onset of the scotoma, suggesting that subjects diagnosed with scotoma at an elderly age are more biased, compared to ones diagnosed at younger age. Another correlation is computed between the Percentage of CR and duration of scotoma (r = 0.04, p = 0.88). As we have no significant correlation with the duration of disease, this shows that the effect remains consistent even when the duration increases (Figure 3.8B). On one hand, these correlations show that people show a greater bias when scotoma develops at older ages, on the other hand, it also shows that time spent with scotoma does not have an effect on central bias. An explanation for this could be that people diagnosed with scotoma at younger age have a better plasticity and so they can easily adjust with new pathology while older people with more visual experience without scotoma pay more attention towards the blind zone making them biased towards the scotoma position.

The same result is confirmed by another correlation in which we considered the Percentage of CR against the age of MD individuals (Figure 3.8C) and the Percentage of CR against the age of typical participants (Figure 3.8D). A significant correlation between age and CR is evident only for MD individuals (Pearson's coefficient (r = 0.53, p = 0.02) and not for typical (Pearson's coefficient (r = 0.05, p = 0.94). The presence of an effect for the correlation of Age and CR for MD group and not for Controls group shows that MD participants are attracted more to the scotoma position with increasing age and that the correlation is present only when there is a scotoma, without scotoma (controls) we found no correlation.

3.4 Conclusions

In this work, we studied audio-spatial representation for the first time in adults suffering from central scotoma due to Macular Degeneration (MD) disease. Our results show that sounds are attracted towards the blind zones. There is a strong bias in lateral sound positions and perceived as coming from the central scotoma region. The similar precisions in central and peripheral regions between MD and sighted participants (distance errors) suggest that the bias was not due to a less reliable spatial perception in MD individuals. On the contrary, there is no attraction towards a specific area of the device in controls group. Results also support the idea that spatial reorganization of audio processing is an ongoing process that occurs

after the loss of visual input in a plastic manner. The correlation that we observed between the attraction toward the center and onset of scotoma, indicates that the older the subject is at the onset of the scotoma, the more s/he is attracted toward the center. As expected, this result suggests that this multisensory re-calibration process reflects the brain plasticity that is maximal in younger individuals and reduced at older ages (Lund (1985), Kramer and Erickson (2007)). The correlation effect between age and percentage of responses in the center was found only in the MD group and not in the control group. This suggests that central blind region has a minimal effect on audio-spatial reorganization of younger MD individuals, thanks to their cortical plasticity, and this effect due to scotoma increases in elderly population as cortical plasticity reduces with age (Erickson et al. (2007), Kramer and Erickson (2007)).

We can speculate from our findings that the bias towards blind zones could be the result of ongoing audio cortical reorganization due to the lack of visual input. This cortical reorganization is a fast process that starts immediately when the visual input is loss such as in MD individuals. The recruitment of the visual cortex from the auditory modality could produce the misperception of sound localization that we observed because audio and visual spatial maps require some time to realign. On the other hand, it is not clear which is the short term benefit of this audio reorganization. Indeed on one side, the attraction of sound is not useful to enhance audio spatial precision as it happens in blind individuals. On the other side, it produces a strong misperception of sound, which is perceived as more central than the real position and this can be problematic for MD individuals.

Chapter 4

Intelligent Audio Visual Thumble Training (IVATT)

Several studies have shown how the absence of a sensory modality can induce perceptual deficits in tasks involving the remaining sensory modalities. For example, people with Macular Degeneration (MD) with central scotoma show biased auditory localization abilities toward the scotoma area of the visual field, indicating a spatial specific reorganization of cross modal processing. In the present study, we wanted to evaluate whether a multisensory training can modify this bias. We tested two groups of MD patients in an auditory and visual localization task. The training group was tested before and after a multisensory training (training group), called Intelligent Audio Visual Thumble Training (IVATT), while the control group performed the two task twice after ten minutes of break. IVATT is an audio-spatial motor training that can provide spatially and temporally congruent audio, visual and proprioceptive feedbacks with a goal to improve audio and visual localization skills in space for MD individuals. Our findings show an improvement in audio localization and visual precision for MD individuals in the training group and not for control group. The idea of integrating different sensory modalities can potentially ignite further research and applications for people with central scotoma for whom rehabilitation is classically focused on training visual modality only.

4.1 Macular Degeneration

Macular Degeneration (MD) is an irreversible, chronic and progressive disease significantly effecting patient's life quality, psychological well-being and the ability to perform ordinary daily life tasks like walking, reading, social interactions and so on (Lim, Mitchell, Seddon,

Holz, & Wong, 2012). It is among the leading causes for blindness worldwide. A study conducted in 2016 shows that around 6.2 million people were globally effected by the disease (Vos et al., 2017). MD was ranked fourth among causes for blindness in a survey conducted in 2015; first three being Cataracts, pre-term birth and Glaucoma (Vos et al., 2016). Macular Degeneration can either be Age-related Macular Degeneration (AMD) cause with aging after around 60 years of age, or it can be hereditary or genetic called Juvenile Macular Degeneration (JMD). The number of population effected by AMD is expected to increase even more because of longer life expectancy. During the early stages of Macular Degeneration, a person may not experience any visual loss. With advancement of disease, visual inputs are lost at damaged retinal positions and blind spots or scotoma appears in visual fields. These scotoma appear due to permanent loss of retinal pigment epithelium and photoreceptors (Curcio, Medeiros, & Millican, 1996). Unfortunately, to-date there is no effective clinical treatment available to stop this continuous damage except for some drugs that can slow down the retinal degeneration process (Senra et al., 2019).

4.2 Low vision and plasticity in adulthood

Our brain is capable of adapting to changes in environment, thanks to the plastic nature of our brain. The term "critical period" for vision refers to the developmental period of humans when the cortical organization for visual pathways develop depending on visual experience, either normal or impaired. After critical period, the cortical organization and neural pathways matures and become stable and becomes harder to adapt any changes in sensory inputs (Fagiolini & Hensch, 2000; Wandell & Winawer, 2015). This is the reason why adults who suffer from visual deprivation at a later stage in life (such as cataract or age-related macular degeneration) are expected to show less plasticity to ongoing changes in sensory inputs. However, evidence are still present showing plasticity to some extent in adults (sighted or low vision) even after critical period. Studies show that visual experience of a person can be altered at adult age through perceptual learning or training techniques over a certain period of time (few hours to weeks) by repeatedly showing similar stimuli. For example, position judgment (Li, Levi, & Klein, 2004), face identification (Trauzettel-Klosinski & Dietz, 2012), orientation discrimination (Chen & Fang, 2011), texture identification (Palmer, Logan, Nabili, & Dutton, 2010) and letter recognition (Seiple, Grant, & Szlyk, 2011). Similarly, for cataracts, it is possible to regain the visual functions like acuity and contrast sensitivity after surgery, even if the surgical procedure is performed years after the cataract occurred showing plastic behavior of learning (Fine, Smallman, Doyle, & MacLeod, 2002; Williamson &

Seewoodhary, 2013). Similarly, It has been shown that reading abilities are badly effected as a result of central visual loss in macular degeneration, and certain perceptual trainings have proved to be effective in improving reading skills by learning to use healthy retinal regions (Coco-Martín et al., 2013; Seiple, Szlyk, McMahon, Pulido, & Fishman, 2005; Tarita-Nistor, González, Markowitz, & Steinbach, 2009). The topic is of critical importance because it has direct implications of rehabilitation. For example, consider if there plasticity is totally absent in adult age, the person deprived of vision will not be able to adapt to changes in visual inputs and hence there will be no impact of any rehabilitation. In this case, the only possibility will be a cure that can restore vision to its normal state, which is practically impossible to-date especially for retinal diseases

As a result of MD, fovea (responsible for fixation stability and focus) is lost. Naturally, to fulfil this damage, an adaptive strategy is built by the brain, thanks to its plastic nature, by trying to see through the residual vision in periphery. Eccentric fixations in MD individuals has been described for more than fifty years (Hassan, Ross, Massof, & Stelmack, 2019). MD patients learn to use eccentric retina at a discrete area called the Preferred Retinal Locus (PRL) (Crossland, Culham, Kabanarou, & Rubin, 2005). It can also be described as a distinct area of retina that contains the central target of an image for greater than 20% of fixation interval (Whittaker, Budd, & Cummings, 1988). Indeed, perceptual learning by using PRL are encouraging for rehabilitation techniques showing that it is possible to make use of residual vision for macular degeneration individuals.

4.3 Multisensory reorganization for a sensory deficit

In addition to the problems with visual inputs, we showed in another study on MD, that they have problems also for audio-spatial processing (Ahmad, Setti, Campus, et al., 2019). The findings of this study show that MD individuals are biased (attracted) towards their blind zones, meaning that lateral sounds are attracted towards the scotoma positions. This study was conducted on 36 participants (18 with MD and 18 sighted) using a sound localization task. Sounds were produced using the ARENA device (Ahmad, Setti, Maviglia, et al., 2019). Results show that MD participants are biased towards the central part of ARENA (within ± 20 degrees) in localizing the sounds while sighted participants could fairly localize the sounds produced from the device. This interesting result led to a speculation that due to partial loss of vision in the central visual field, patients are more attentive towards the blind zones and leads to an increased attention for audio-space representation in this region. This

suggest that the visual impairment due to central visual loss can have a multisensory influence by effecting not only the visual perception but also the audio-space perception.

It is a well-known fact that the integration of different sensory modalities is an efficient and plastic process that helps optimizing human performance in different contexts. More in particular, in presence of an important deficit for one sensory modality, previous works have shown that other sensory modalities can, under specific conditions, reveal an impairment (e.g. auditory spatial perception for blind individuals) (Finocchietti, Cappagli, & Gori, 2015; Gori, Sandini, Martinoli, & Burr, 2014). On the other hand, there are also some studies showing that in the absence of vision, the visual cortex of blind individuals process tactile and auditory inputs (Collignon, Voss, Lassonde, & Lepore, 2009; Röder et al., 1999; Voss et al., 2004). The study from Alais and Burr (2004) is an example of the hierarchy of how audio and visual sensory inputs are ordered by our brain. They have provided an evidence that when visual and auditory information are presented at the same time, the visual modality dominates over audition in the spatial domain. However, in the absence of vision, the high weightage of visual inputs (which is impaired for blind individuals) is shifted towards the auditory cortex and the visual cortex is recruited by auditory to form a multisensory integration (Alais & Burr, 2004).

4.4 Rehabilitation for Macular Degeneration

Low-vision rehabilitation options have always been a focus for MD individuals since the medication and surgery have not shown any worth mentioning improvements. Among the typical rehabilitation techniques used for MD is the assessment of residual functional retina and vision, identifying preferred retinal locus (PRL) and training for its active use as a pseudo fovea (Deruaz, Whatham, Mermoud, & Safran, 2002; Radner et al., 2002; Seiple et al., 2011). Certain other rehabilitation programs offered at specialized centers are meant for specific skills like driving or education (Hooper, Jutai, Strong, & Russell-Minda, 2008; Radvay, Duhoux, Koenig-Supiot, & Vital-Durand, 2007). These examples are just a few from the massive research already in progress for this disease. These techniques have proven to bring a small change in life of these patients especially in terms of learning to use their residual vision that has improved their reading and orientation skills and learning to move their eyes to an extent where they can see the missing information due to scotoma. However, the focus of these rehabilitation techniques is mainly on visual modality only i.e. learning to use residual vision by means of visual aids and visual search techniques.

An appropriate training based on the active use of one (or more) different sensory modality can help reducing the original deficits. For example, it has been shown that audiomotor integration is associated with spatial representation development (Bremner, Mareschal, Lloyd-Fox, & Spence, 2008). Audio-motor training can also improve spatial processing. For example, "ABBI", which is an Audio Bracelet for Blind Interaction. It can be wore on hand as bracelet and provides audio feedback enabling blind children to explore their body dimensions in space (Cappagli et al., 2019). Similarly, it has been shown that in blind people, spatial and temporal coincidence of audio-visual stimuli can improve visual perception with enhanced orientation skills (Frassinetti, Bolognini, Bottari, Bonora, & Làdavas, 2005). Long lasting improvements in visual field deficits for low vision individuals were found by using audio and visual stimulation of the visual field (Bolognini, Frassinetti, Serino, & Làdavas, 2005).

Can an audio-motor training improve audio and visual spatial processing in MD patients? To test this hypothesis, we measured audio and visual spatial processing before and after an audio-visual-motor training called Intelligent Audio Visual Thumble Training (IVATT). IVATT technique is capable of providing audio, visual and proprioceptive feedbacks so that visual targets outside or at the edge of scotoma can be identified. Using the two secondary feedbacks (audio and proprioceptive) for finding visual stimulus, MD individuals are able to focus on scotoma region using their residual vision. IVATT makes use of a simple device called Audio Visual Thumble (AVT). Using IVATT protocol, we expect an improvement in audio and visual spatial representations for MD individuals.

4.5 **IVATT equipments**

IVATT is a simple, easy to adapt training technique which uses two very simple devices (low-technology and user-friendly); the Audio Visual Thumble (AVT) and Archimedean spiral board as discussed below.

4.5.1 Audio Visual Thumble (AVT)

Audio Visual Thumble or AVT device is already described in detail in Chapter 2 (Section 2.3). To summarize here, (AVT) is a device that incorporates auditory and visual feedbacks, by means of a high integration buzzer and a high brightness red LED, respectively. The device can be worn on index finger and provides multisensory feedback that allow integrating auditory, visual and proprioceptive (motion) information together. AVT can be operated in

L	B	Device Mode	
		Device turned OFF	
OFF	OFF	Battery disconnected	
		LED OFF, Buzzer OFF	
		Device turned ON	
ON	OFF	Battery connected	
		LED ON, Buzzer OFF	
		Device turned OFF	
OFF	ON	Battery disconnected	
		LED OFF, Buzzer OFF	
		Device turned ON	
ON	ON	Battery connected	
		LED ON, Buzzer ON	

Table 4.1 Switch Modes

either uni-mode (visual only) or dual-mode (visual + auditory) with the help of two on/off switches called L (for LED) and B (for buzzer) respectively, as shown in Table 4.1. Two replaceable batteries are used to provide power to LED and buzzer. The PCB is enclosed in a biomaterial casing with a slot to pass a velcro-strip from the back side that can help wear device on index finger. Battery can be easily replaced (like battery of a toy) by sliding section of the casing from back side. Figure 2.4 A, B and C shows the front side, back side and components of the device respectively.

4.5.2 Archimedean Spiral board

The second equipment used for IVATT training is a simple 70x70 cm board. The board has a white background with black Archimedean spirals on it. The spiral starts at the central point of the board (x=35, y=35 cm) and ends at the edge making 14 spiral rings. Radius of smallest and biggest spirals are 2 cm and 28 cm respectively with increasing steps of 2 in between spirals. Hence the diameter of smallest and biggest circles are 4 cm and 56 cm respectively. At a distance of 30 cm between the central point on spiral board and the eye, each 1 cm corresponds to 1 degree of visual angle, therefore the spiral path at its maximum diameter covers ± 56 degrees of visual angle. The idea of presenting visual and auditory stimuli at peripheral vision has been reported in literature as well. For example, Martens and Van Winsum (2000) reports a peripheral detection training task in which stimuli were presented between ± 11 and ± 23 degrees of visual field while driving on a driving simulator.



Figure 4.1 AVT Device. A. Front side, B. Back side, C. Device components

Similarly, Webster and Haslerud (1964) have presented multi-modal stimuli on a ± 60 degree arc perimeter with a radius of 76.2 cm.

The spiral pattern was first printed on the board and then was made protuberant with the help of black hot glue. This protuberant lining over Archimedean spiral makes it very easy to follow with finger thus providing proprioceptive feedback. The pattern of Archimedean spiral is shown in Figure 4.2. The central point of the spiral (marked red in figure) is called the fixation point. This fixation mark is covered by a simple circuit with a red LED, switch and battery. This PCB is pasted on the central red fixation point on the board. When the LED is turned ON via switch, it makes the fixation point prominent for users.

4.6 IVATT protocol

The IVATT protocol is performed in three short phases; Pre-training tests, Training and Post-training tests (Figure 4.3). I will explain first the pre and post training tests and then the training. Two tests; Audio localization test and Visual localization test are performed both before and after the training in order to see if there is any improvement in spatial representation of audio and visual modality due to training. The spatial representation in audio and visual modality is evaluated in order to see if the training can improve the audio-



Figure 4.2 Archimedean Spiral Board





spatial bias towards scotoma positions (as shown by Ahmad et al. (2019)) and and if it can bring change in visual localization using residual vision.

4.6.1 Audio localization test

The first test that is used as evaluation criterion to see the effectiveness of IVATT is Audio localization test. The test performed is similar to the audio-spatial task explained in Chapter 3. We chose this test as a quantification measure based on our results in a previous study (Ahmad et al. (2019)). Based on the results of this work, we know that there is a bias towards blind zones while localizing sounds in MD patients. This bias leads towards mislocalization of sounds towards the damaged retinal regions. The same task is used again here to see if there is an improvement in bias after performing IVATT training. To recall the task in summary, subjects were asked to point out the position of sounds (white noise, duration 1 second) produced by one of the speakers of the ARENA (Chapter 2, section 2.2). Thanks to the tactile sensors covering the whole ARENA, the subject's response was automatically recorded, allowing to calculate the exact position indicated. Each position corresponding to a speaker has been repeated 3 times, except for the central speaker, for a total of 72 trials. A gap of 3 seconds was inserted between trials, with a trial ending immediately after subject



Figure 4.4 Experimental Design for Audio Localization Test

response is recorded by tactile sensors (Figure 4.4). A feedback sound is produced at the end of each trial (as soon as the subject responds on ARENA).

4.6.2 Visual localization test

The second test used as an evaluation criterion is Visual localization test. This test is designed on similar concepts as audio localization test. Therefore, it involves localizing white light flashes on a tactile monitor. For this purpose, a tactile screen of dimensions 48x28 cm (width x height) and resolution 1920x1080 pixels (21 pixels per degree) was used. Using the MATLAB Psychophysics toolbox, white flashes (luminance = 180 cd/m2, [R G B]=[1 1 1], size = 21 pixels) were displayed on black background. 25 flash positions were used on the screen to show the stimuli (one at a time). 75 total trials were used, three random flashes at each position. At the start of each trial, a fixation point (circular grid) was shown in the center of screen for a random time between 2 to 3 seconds. After the fixation point disappeared, a flash was shown at any random position out of 25 positions for a duration of 1 second. Subjects were able to localize the position of this flash only once the flash was gone and a clear black screen was shown where subjects had to touch where they perceived flash was blinked earlier. Also, in this case the response of the participant was recorded by recording the touch of the screen thanks to MATLAB psych toolbox Subjects had a time window of 5 seconds to respond. If the response was recorded within this time window, a "tick" sign was shown as a feedback of response and the trial ends, with a beginning of next trial displaying the fixation window again. Figure 4.5 shows the experimental design of this



Figure 4.5 Experimental Design for Visual Localization Test

task. If the subjects could not respond with in time window of 5 seconds, next trial started automatically. In case subjects were unable to see the flash, experimenter manually pressed right mouse button. During the experiment, subjects were seated straight at a distance of approximately 30 cm from the screen. This task was performed in a dark room.

4.6.3 Training

During the training phase of IVATT, subjects were seated straight at arm distance from the Archimedean spiral board. The fixation LED at the center was turned ON. Subjects were asked to wear the AVT on index finger of their dominant hand with both switches (L and B) turned ON, hence providing both auditory and visual feedbacks. The training was performed in a dark room so both LED's were visible easily as shown in Figure 4.6. With this set-up, the subject was asked to fixate on central LED of Archimedean spiral board and put the finger with AVT on starting position of spiral. Thanks to the raised shape of the spiral, the subject was able to follow the spiral even in dark conditions. Each subject was asked to start following the spiral from inward to outward direction while fixating in the center of spiral board.



Figure 4.6 Subject performing IVATT

While following the spiral path, experimenter asked the subjects to keep following the LED of AVT on their finger using their residual vision and keep responding "yes, i can see the light on my finger". Since subjects were suffering from scotoma condition, they reached a point on spiral path where they were no longer able to see the LED of AVT along the spiral path. At this point, they responded to experimenter "no, I can not see the light here". Thanks to the multisensory feedbacks of IVATT, the subject was asked to switch the attention from the LED to the sound from buzzer, trying to localize it. Moreover, the sound localization was supported by proprioceptive feedback from their finger. With these feedbacks, the subject was asked to find the LED of peripheral visual field while fixating in the center, thanks to the high reliability of proprioceptive feedback.

Following these instructions, 6 clockwise and 6 anti-clockwise rotations over Arechimedean spiral board were performed by the subjects. Subjects were not given any time constraint, simply for the reason that they can take their time and not panic or fatigue themselves. Subjects were free to take pauses during training session.

ID	Age	Gender	Disease	Duration (years)	Visual Acuity	Dominant eye
T01	77	F	AMD	2	1/10	Left
T02	83	F	AMD	20	1/10	Left
T03	85	F	AMD	15	1/20	Right
T04	69	F	RD (diabetic)	2	1/10	Right
T05	71	F	AMD	10	1/10	Left
T06	79	Μ	AMD	2	2/10	Right
T07	58	Μ	Myopia + Glaucoma	15	1/10	Right
T08	81	Μ	AMD + Glaucoma	2	1/10	Right
T09	62	F	Optic neuritis	2	1/10	Left
T10	43	F	Cone rod dystrophy	congenital	1/20	Right
T11	32	Μ	Stargardt	2	1/10	Right

Table 4.2 Training group data

4.6.4 Participants

A total of 22 participants having central scotoma due to MD, were tested divided in two groups: the training group (those who performed training) composed by 11 participants (*mean age*: 67.27 years, *standard deviation*: 17.16 years) and control group (those who did not performed training) of 11 MD participants (*mean age*: 68 years, *standard deviation*: 19.93 years), *unpaired* t - test (t(df) = -0.092, p = 0.93, d = 0.04) performed the experiment (see details for training group in Table 4.2 and for controls group in Table 4.3). Training group performed all three phases of IVATT protocol i.e. pre-tests, training and post-tests, while controls group only performed pre-tests and post-tests but did not performed the training. We used this set of control group who were MD patients as well, in order to see whether the results we get for training in between) or the training is actually beneficial in improving their performance. Visual acuity of these participants was measured using the ETDRS acuity test (Rosser, Cousens, Murdoch, Fitzke, & Laidlaw, 2003).

All MD participants had vision loss due to scotoma caused by different diseases as reported in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3. Some of these participants were born with congenital retinal diseases (JMD, e.g., RP) leading to slow degeneration of the retina and development of scotoma with growing age, while others were suffering from AMD; hence developing a scotoma in one or both eyes in later years of life. Visual acuity of these participants was measured using the ETDRS acuity test (Rosser, Cousens, Murdoch, Fitzke, & Laidlaw, 2003). All these patients were recruited from Istituto David Chiossone based in Genoa, Italy. These participants were part of a rehabilitation program at this institute where they were learning

ID	Age	Gender	Disease	Visual Acuity	Dominant eye
C01	24	F	optic nerve atrophy	1/50	Right
C02	87	F	diabetic retinopathy	1/10	Left
C03	51	F	RP	1/10	Right
C04	85	F	AMD	1/20	Right
C05	81	F	AMD	1/10	Left
C06	80	М	AMD	2/20	Right
C07	78	М	AMD	1/20	Left
C08	73	М	AMD	1/20	Left
C09	47	F	RP	3/10	Right
C10	81	F	AMD	1/10	Left
C11	61	Μ	myopia + glaucoma	1/10	Right

Table 4.3 Control group data

to fixate with their preferred retinal locus (PRL) instead of damaged fovea using certain rehabilitation training techniques. All necessary participant's data (history, visual acuity, disease, dominant eye, PRL, fixation stability, and retinal maps) were obtained from the ophthalmologist and rehabilitators at "Istituto David Chiossone".

4.7 Results

4.7.1 Audio localization test

Response behaviours as recorded on ARENA device for audio localization test (pre and post) were compared for training groups and controls group. To quantify the sensory precision and the bias in sound localization (i.e., the sound attraction toward the scotoma position), responses were subdivided as central responses (CR) for central stimuli (CS) and peripheral responses (PR) for peripheral stimuli (PS), considering the central and peripheral portions of the ARENA as discussed in Chapter 3 (Figure 3.1), respectively. CR and PR are inversely proportional to each other, i.e. CR = 72 - PR, where 72 is the total number of trials. Out of total trials, CS are 33.33% while PS are 66.67%. Hence, there are more stimuli in periphery then in the center. Figure 4.7 show the difference between two positions (CR and PR) i.e. CR = 72 - PR in terms of scatter plot and decile differences, the thicker line represents the difference in medians for two positions. The black diagonal shows line of no effect with slope one and intercept zero as reference line (CR = PR). Quartiles of two conditions are

shown by the dashed lines. Figure 4.7 (A,B) shows differences in positions for training group. Before performing IVATT training, responses of training group are quite scattered from reference line, whereas after training, differences are symmetrically grouped revealing that the probability of having subjects with positive or negative differences between conditions are similar. On the other hand, differences in CR and PR does not show an evident symmetrical grouping in pre and post tests or in other words the effect is not significant for controls group (Figure 4.7 (C,D)).




For training group, a significant difference between CR and PR was found in pre-training phase with a higher number of responses in the CR (66.67%) than in the PR (32.57%). In post-training phase, the percentage of responses reduced to 50.01% for CR and PR improved to 51.09% respectively. On the other hand, for control group, a significant difference between CR and PR was found in pre-training phase with a higher number of responses in the CR (63.06%) than in the PR (37.92%). In post-training phase, the significant difference was still present with percentage of responses for CR being 65.28% and PR 35.83% respectively. A mixed model ANOVA (2x2x2) was performed with the group as between factor (two levels, Training and Controls), and position (two levels, CR and PR). and phase (two levels, Pre and Post). as within factor. We found a main effect of position (F(1,20) = 32.02, p = 0.0001, p = 0.0001)ges = 0.04) and significant interaction between position and phase (F(1,20) = 5.69, p =0.027, ges = 0.009) and group, position and phase (F(1,20) = 9.45, p = 0.005, ges = 0.01). Post-hoc analysis revealed a significant difference between phase reproduced from Training and Control groups for both position (CR: un-paired t-test, t = 2.70, df = 17.33, p = 0.01, and PR: un-paired t-test, t = -3.46, df = 19.51, p < 0.01) only in the Training group. No significant difference was found for position or phase for Control group. These results show that IVATT training significantly decrease the bias of attraction towards the center in the group that performed the training while the bias still remains there for pre and post tests for controls group. Figure 4.8 shows these results as bar plots.

As another type of analysis, precisions were studied for both groups in pre and post phases. Precisions were calculated using the *distance error formula* i.e.

P.error(i) =
$$\sqrt{(x_r(i) - x_s(i))^2 + (y_r(i) - y_s(i))^2}$$

where $(x_r(i), y_r(i))$ are the *x* and *y* co-ordinates of the response made as a result of stimulus produced at co-ordinate $(x_s(i), y_s(i))$ for an *i*th trial. Distance between two consecutive speakers on ARENA is 10 cm (Chapter 2, Section 2.2). For the training group, we found an average distance error in pre phase for CR and PR as 10.8 cm and 15.6 cm respectively, while for post phase the average error for CR and PR was 11.1 cm and 16.1 cm respectively. For the control group, we found an average distance error in pre phase for CR and PR as 9.5 cm and 15.1 cm respectively, while for post phase the average error for CR and PR was 10 cm and 15.1 cm respectively. The precisions for both groups are similar in both phases and are less then 16 cm which means that both groups responded to the stimulus with similar precisions and that the responses were not made randomly on the ARENA.



Figure 4.8 Percentage responses for Audio localization test in pre and post phases. A. Training group, B. Controls group

4.7.2 Visual localization test

Responses as recorded on tactile screen for visual localization test (pre and post) were compared for training groups and controls group. Analysis criterion for this test was kept similar to the audio localization test i.e. dividing the total area of the screen into central responses (CR) for central stimuli (CS) and peripheral responses (PR) for peripheral stimuli (PS) respectively. The resolution of the tactile screen used was 1920 x 1080 pixels with a size of 46 cm x 26 cm and pixels per inch ratio of 105 ppi (pixels per inch). Hence, CR and PR are the response positions (in cm) made as a result of CS and PS respectively (co-ordinates of CS and PS are fixed at 25 positions). Similar to audio localization test, 33.33% of total trials are in center and 66.67% are in periphery. However, since vision is much more precise sensory modality then auditory for spatial localization, analysis for visual localization test are not done by just considering the response positions. Instead, in this case percentage of hit (seen) trials in center and periphery are compared respectively. We found no significant change in the difference between percentage of hit trials in center and periphery are used respectively. We found no significant change in the difference between percentage of hit trials in center and periphery are used respectively.

For training group, percentage of seen trials in center and periphery during pre phase was 96.3% and 90.7% respectively, while for post phase the central seen responses remained

similar i.e. 96.9% and for peripheral seen trials improved a little to 94.7%. A mixed model *ANOVA* (2*x*2*x*2) was performed with the group as *between* factor (two levels, *Training* and *Controls*), and *position* (two levels, *CR* and *PR*). and *phase* (two levels, *Pre* and *Post*). as *within* factor. We found a main effect of *position* (F(1,20) = 7.15, p = 0.001, ges = 0.04) and *phase* (F(1,20) = 26.71, p = 0.004, ges = 0.05). A significant interaction was found between group and phase (F(1,20) = 6.68, p = 0.01, ges = 0.01). Post-hoc analysis was performed by collapsing *position* into CR and PR and *phase* into *pre* and *post*. *T-tests* shows a trend between CR and PR (t = 1.98, df = 78.53, p = 0.05) while no significant interaction was found for other parameters. These results show that in terms of percentage hit trials, there is no significant improvement for training group, however, participants of both groups show a trend with better performance in center compared to peripheral position.

Precision was studied for visual localization tests as well, as discussed for audio localization test i.e. distance errors between stimulus and response positions in center and periphery by using distance formula. Distance errors were analysed by converting ppi (pixels per inch) of the screen to mm (millimeters). *3-way mixed model ANOVA (2x2x2)* was performed with the group as *between* factor (two levels, *Training* and *Controls*), and *position* (two levels, *CR* and *PR*). and *phase* (two levels, *Pre* and *Post*). as *within* factor. We found a main effect of *position (F(1,20) = 5.44, p = 0.03)* and a significant interaction between *group, position and phase (F(1,20) = 6.68, p < 0.02)*. Post-hoc *t-tests* were performed and a trend of improvement was observed only for PR position between pre and post phase for training group (t = 2.07, df = 15.79, p = 0.05). No significant interactions were observed for other parameters (Figure 4.9). These results show that though not very significant, IVATT training can help in improving precisions for visual localization in peripheral visual field.

4.7.3 Overall performance of IVATT

Table 4.4 summarizes the performance for IVATT comparing the results for training and control groups. From the table, we can see that IVATT has an effective performance in improving audio localization bias and precision for visual localization test in peripheral region in the training group. However, the precision of training group in audio localization test remains unchanged after the training, although there is an improvement in localizing the stimuli. Similarly, for visual localization test, number of seen trials does not improve after training however, an improvement is seen in precision of localizing the stimulus position in peripheral region after the training. Controls group has no effects on performance for both audio and visual localization tests. These results are partially in line with our original



Figure 4.9 Distance errors for Visual localization test in pre and post phases. A. Training group, B. Controls group

hypothesis that an audio-motor visual training can improve the audio and visual spatial localization skills.

	Та	ıble 4.4 Overall performanc	ce of IVATT	
Group	Test	Parameter tested	Position	Performance Improvement
Training	Audio localization	1. Percentage responses	Center	YES
			Periphery	YES
		2. Precision	Center	NO
			Periphery	NO
Control	Audio localization	1. Percentage responses	Center	NO
			Periphery	NO
		2. Precision	Center	NO
			Periphery	NO
Training	Visual localization	1. Percentage Hit-trials	Center	NO
			Periphery	NO
		2. Precision	Center	NO
			Periphery	YES
Control	Visual localization	1. Percentage Hit-trials	Center	NO
			Periphery	NO
		2. Precision	Center	NO
			Periphery	NO

of IVATT
performance
Overall
le 4.4 (

4.8 Conclusions

To test our hypothesis that if an audio-motor training can improve audio and visual spatial processing in MD patients, we measured audio and visual spatial processing before and after an audio-visual-motor training called Intelligent Audio Visual Thumble Training (IVATT). IVATT involves auditory and visual sensory modalities, and hence performance of the training was measured by analyzing the audio and visual localization before and after the training. Our results confirm our hypothesis showing a significant improvement in audio localization bias and partial improvement in visual localization.

An audio spatial localization bias was observed in our previous study on audio spatial representation in MD patients (Ahmad, Setti, Campus, et al., 2019) showing a bias in localizing the sound positions for patients with scotoma and we found that sounds are attracted towards the scotoma regions. Taking in to account this study, our new training group and control group (both suffering from MD) showed similar kind of behavior i.e. a bias towards the scotoma positions in localizing the auditory stimuli as evident from the baseline condition before training for each group. IVATT show a prominent improvement in localization for training groups and even after a short audio motor training session, participants are able to better localize the sounds. On the other hand, controls group are still biased towards the scotoma regions in post training phase.

A possible explanation of our audio spatial test results could be in terms of misslocalization due to attention. Since auditory inputs are absent at certain locations (Kong et al., 2014; Romei, Murray, Cappe, & Thut, 2009), it could be that the MD participant give more attention to scotoma regions, knowing that visual inputs are not reliable in this region. While performing IVATT, their attention is directed towards the audio stimulus and attention is directed back to true spatial locations. This has already been shown that audio-motor training can improve spatial processing in sighted (Aggius-Vella, Campus, Finocchietti, & Gori, 2017) and in blind individuals (Finocchietti, Cappagli, & Gori, 2017). This training, therefore trains the patient to keep their attention to sound positions with proprioceptive feedbacks. Our results also show that the precision in sound localization test (distance errors) remains same before and after the training. On one side, this suggests that IVATT training is not beneficial for improving spatial precisions for auditory stimuli, on the other side similar precisions show that the bias was not due to random responses on ARENA device. In fact, this shows that the responses we analyzed in this study, were actually made as a response to auditory stimuli.

Our results for visual localization test show that this training can improve the precisions of MD patients in peripheral region of visual field, however, precision in the central region remains unchanged. This improvement in spatial localization for visual modality through an audio-visual motor training can be explained in terms of behavioral and neurophysiological studies that show an improvement in visual perception when cross-modal audio and visual stimuli are congruent in space and time. For instance, Targher et al. (2012) conducted a study on low-vision adults for an audio visual integration task where subjects were asked to localize visual stimuli and ignore auditory stimulations. Their findings provides an evident proof for effect of synchronous and spatially congruent sounds for visual spatial orientation (Targher, Occelli, & Zampini, 2012). Similarly, an improvement in some visual functions for individuals with hemianopia was reported after performing an audio-visual training task (Hairston et al., 2003). This study also reports that central visual stimuli have a significantly greater biasing consequence on auditory target localization than did more peripheral visual stimuli which shows why people with central scotoma show a bias for audio spatial localization and an audio-motor training can influence the spatial localization in peripheral regions only.

In particular, evidences show that the spatial and temporal coincidence of audio and visual stimulus can help visual perception and enhance orientation in the blind zone of hemianopia patients (Frassinetti et al., 2005). Following the same concept, improvement in precisions for visual localization due to audio-motor training of IVATT can be explained as MD patients have a blind zone in center of visual field, while hemianopia patients have a blind zone to the left or right side of visual field. We analyzed the results in terms of percentage of seen trials in central and peripheral visual fields as well, but results show no effective improvement with training. This can be explained as the percentage of seen trials in both visual fields was already high (greater than 85%), hence our MD participants were already very good in seeing the visual stimulus since vision is a reliable modality and always gets a higher weightage over other sensory modalities (Alais & Burr, 2004).

Our results essentially nullifies the fact that improvement we observed for training group in both audio and visual spatial localization could simply be a result of repeated task in short period of time and involves memory factor. Because if later was the case, controls group would have also shown the same improvement effect after repeating the same task twice. These results also support the plastic nature of our brain at adult age as it has already been shown that our sensory modalities are capable to adapt to any changes in sensory inputs even after the critical period (Dionne-Dostie, Paquette, Lassonde, & Gallagher, 2015). This plastic behavior is the key for rehabilitation research in low vision and particularly MD patients. Infact, in the absence of ability to adapt to changes in sensory inputs, rehabilitation for adult population would be out of question and the only cure left would be surgery or medication.

Chapter 5

Conclusions

The main aim of this this dissertation is present the work related to: 1) developing and testing devices that can provide multisensory feedback for visually impaired people. To achieve this point we presented two devices, first device is ARENA which is an audio-tactile matrix of speakers and can be used to understand audio-spatial representation in Macular Degeneration (MD) participants, the second device is Audio Visual Thumble (AVT), which is a small device capable of providing audio, visual and proprioceptive feedbacks that has been used in a rehabilitation protocol design for MD participants. 2) Understanding how audio-spatial representation is altered for individuals suffering from MD. For this purpose we have used an audio localization task with the ARENA device. Results reveal that MD individuals show a miss localization of sound and perceive them coming from scotoma positions. 3) Developing a rehabilitation protocol called Intelligent Audio Visual Thumble Training (IVATT) to make MD individuals more aware of their own spatial representation and overcome limitations due to their visual pathology. This training use AVT device and an Archimedean spiral board. Audio and visual localization tests are used to evaluate results of this training. Results of IVATT show an improvement in audio localization skills and precision in visual localization skills of MD patients.

5.1 Seeing, Hearing and feeling scotoma through technology

Macular Degeneration causes an irreversible and permanent damage to the retina and unfortunately to-date there is no breakthrough to stop this damage through medicines or surgery. Therefore, rehabilitation techniques for individuals with scotoma as a result of MD is a wide research topic. However, these rehabilitation methods generally involves training to learn to develop a pseudo fovea in healthy part of their retina (Midena et al. (2018)) by utilizing the residual vision. The concept of rehabilitation through multi-sensory integration and sensory substitution devices for blind individuals has been investigated widely in past, in fact there are many rehabilitative and assistive devices for blind adults (Setti et al. (2018), Nelson et al. (2018)) and children (Martolini et al. (2018), Cappagli et al. (2018)). On the other hand, this concept has never been used for the screening and rehabilitation of individuals with visual degenerative diseases as in MD. The focus of rehabilitation techniques for MD is visual modality only. Here, we presented a concept of multisensory integration rehabilitation. In this method we used the audio and spatial representations to quantify the visual deficit and train the audio, visual and spatial representations by using a multisensory device. Two devices are presented in this regard: (I): ARENA to understand the role of audio modality on space representation due to a central scotoma. ARENA is a 2-D matrix (5x5) of speakers covered with tactile sensors. The device is capable of producing sounds and recording response positions; thanks to the tactile sensors. As an application, we have elaborated an behavioural experiment using ARENA in detail in Chapter 3 for MD individuals, (II): AVT device which is designed to improve the audio and visual localization bias in MD patients. AVT is composed of an LED and a buzzer which provides visual and auditory feedbacks respectively. AVT can be an effective device to develop PRL (Preferred Retinal Locus) or pseudo fovea in the residual healthy part of retina. We have used these devices for a single application in this dissertation, but using the concept, i.e. multisensory integration for MD individuals, they can open doors to new research paradigms. These devices are first of their kind, therefore they have limitations and of course, there is a big room for improvement in design and technology in future.

5.2 Effect on audio-space representation due to Macular Degeneration

In this work, we studied audio-space representation in adults suffering from Macular Degeneration and having a scotoma in central visual field due to this disease. Our findings show that there is a robust attraction of auditory stimuli towards the scotoma position in MD individuals. Sound positions from periphery regions were strongly biased and they perceived them as they were produced in central scotoma regions. We found that there is no difference between precision of MD and sighted groups calculated in terms of distance errors. This similarity suggests that bias we observed was not due to less precise spatial perception of MD group. On the other hand, we found that sound localization of controls group was equally scattered on device and there was no bias towards a specific region of the device. Our results also supports the concept that reorganization of spatial representation of sound processing is a continuous process that starts after the visual input loss in a plastic way. We also observed a correlation between the audio bias towards scotoma positions and onset of the disease. Younger the participant is at the onset of disease, lower is the bias and older the participant is at onset of disease, higher is the bias towards the center. This effect is as expected i.e. audio-spatial recaliberation mechanism reflects the plasticity of brain which is maximum at younger age and reduces with growing age (Lund (1985), Kramer and Erickson (2007)). Interestingly, out of 18 MD participants we tested, tge age of 12 participants was greater then 70 years and the correlation we observed between age and percentage responses in central region was significant for MD group and not for sighted participants. This means that central scotoma has minimum effect on audio-spatial perception in younger MD participants because of their cortical plasticity at young age. With growing age, this effect due to scotoma increases because the cortical plasticity decreases with growing age (Erickson et al. (2007), Kramer and Erickson (2007)).

The capability to perceive the spatial coordinates related with neural signals from different sensory modalities is essential for a rational perception. The famous findings from Alais and Burr (Alais and Burr (2004)) proves that visual modality is more precise compared to other sensory modalities for spatial representation.

One possible explanation of the bias we observed could be that this bias is due to continual cortical reorganization of auditory cortex caused by missing visual inputs. This reorganization of cortex is a rapid process that begins soon after the loss of visual inputs as in case of MD individuals who are continually losing visual inputs due to scotoma development. The recruitment of the visual cortex from the auditory modality could produce the misperception

of sound localization that we observed because audio and visual spatial maps require some time to realign. However, the short term advantages of this auditory reorganization are still unclear. In fact, we have seen in our results that the attraction of sound towards scotoma is not beneficial in enhancing the audio space precision since we observed similar precision between MD and sighted groups, which is very evident for blind people (Lessard et al. (1998)). This audio space reorganization also produces a strong miss-perception of sound, making the perception attracted towards the center then the actual sound positions. This miss-perception indeed can produce problems for MD patients.

Considering the possible aspects discussed above, a second speculation we can make is that the observed bias could be due to multisensory integration process. In sighted people, audio, visual and spatial information integrate to give a complete perception of surrounding environment. When the visual inputs are present perfectly, a high reliability is given to visual information in space. Vision gets a higher dominance in this case as proved for ventriloquist effect for a Bayesian model prediction (Alais and Burr (2004)). Taking in to account these findings, we can relate our results to multisensory integration mechanisms as well. With the growing age, scotoma also develops and hence decreasing the higher reliability of vision in space. In this situation, the residual visual areas gets more weightage then normal. This wrong prediction of weightage can affect the processing of spatial information for a multisensory process and hence captures the sound which produces an *inversi ventriloquist* effect. Depending upon the size of scotoma and age of MD individual, this effect may be stronger in elder people compared to younger individuals because plasticity and multisensory integration skills reduces with growing age (Lund (1985), Kramer and Erickson (2007)), which is in line with our findings for correlations with age.

We explain our results in terms of attention as well. Attention may have a role on the aidiospatial bias we observed. A study by Santangelo and Macaluso (2012) have discussed several behavioral and fMRI studies presenting that attention has an affect on how audio-spatial and visual-spatial inputs interact with each other (Santangelo and Macaluso, 2012; Stein, 2012). Therefore we can say that scotoma is indeed a "black hole" and with potential risks coming, attention can act as anchor by attracting audio signals in the regions without visual inputs to increase the quantity of information, hence drawing attention of audio modality toward the non-visual zone.

Two comparative hypotheses to explain the neural mechanisms of multisensory activation after vision loss have been presented (Amedi et al. (2007), Striem-Amit et al. (2012), Ortiz-Terán et al. (2017), Chebat et al. (2018)). First is the "rewiring hypothesis" showing that cross-modal cortical responses are intervened by the formation of contemporary pathways

in the regions pf sensory deprived brain. Second hypothesis is "unmasking hypothesis" suggesting that the deprivation of sensory input activates unmasking and/or enhancement of the current neural pathways. The findings of our study brace the unmasking hypothesis proposing that cortical reorganization is a rapid process that reinforces the changes of audio and space perception after a short period of visual input loss. To disentangle which one of the above mentioned explanations is the correct, further investigations will be necessary considering cortical analysis, top down processing and multisensory modeling. These results may have a strong impact for rehabilitation purposes by using the audio input to improve spatial representation and to stimulate residual visual regions of patients having central scotoma due to Macular Degeneration.

5.3 Intelligent Aduio Visual Thumble Training (IVATT)

Macular Degeneration (MD) is a retinal disorder that causes an irreversible damage to retina and produces blind spots called scotoma at damaged retinal parts. Unfortunately, there is no cure yet available to stop this retinal damage either by drugs or through surgery. Therefore, a lot of research is conducted in developing rehabilitation techniques and devices. Generally, we found that the focus of these rehabilitation techniques is learning to develop a pseudo fovea to take advantage of residual vision through tasks that involve visual modality only. In this work, we have presented an idea of multisensory rehabilitation protocol for individuals suffering from MD to make them aware of their own scotoma and develop an effective PRL (Nelson et al. (2018), Daibert-Nido et al. (2019), Midena et al. (2018)).

In this dissertation, we presented an idea based on developing a rehabilitation protocol called Intelligent Audio Visual Thumble Training (IVATT) for individuals suffering from Macular Degeneration in adults age and has developed a scotoma or a blind spot. IVATT involved auditory, visual and tactile sensory modalities. To evaluate the efficiency of the training, we assessed the localization skills of each participant in an auditory and visual task before and after the training. After the training we obtain two main results: (1) a significant improvement in audio localization bias, and (2) an improvement in precision for the visual localization task. About the auditory localization task, in a previous study (Chapter 3), we found a bias in localizing the sound positions for patients with scotoma and we found that sounds are attracted towards the scotoma regions. Taking into account this study, our new training group and control group (both suffering from MD) showed similar kind of behaviour in the pre-training phase i.e. a bias towards the scotoma positions in localizing the auditory stimuli. However, IVATT training show a prominent improvement in localization for trained

group, even after a short period of training, participants are able to better localize the sounds. On the other hand, controls group are still biased towards the scotoma regions in the post phase. This result essentially nullifies the fact that improvement in sound localization for training group could simply be a result of repeated task in short period of time because if later was the case, controls group would have also shown the same improvement effect after just repeating the same task twice. Our results also show that the precision in sound localization test (distance errors) remains same before and after the training in both groups. On one side, this suggests that IVATT training is not beneficial for improving spatial precisions for auditory stimuli, on the other side similar precisions show that the bias was not due to random responses on ARENA device. In fact, this shows that the responses we analyzed in this study, were actually made as a response to auditory stimuli. We speculate that this bias towards the scotoma position could be a result of attention i.e. MD patients are aware of their visual impairment and hence unconsciously they are giving more weightage to auditory stimuli then normal which is explained in previous section as an inverse ventriloquist effect. Performing the IVATT with auditory feedback from one's own motion could possibly re-caliberate the audio bias by integrating the auditory stimuli position with proprioceptry feedback from finger on spiral board. Thus, this multisensory integration can reduce the audio-spatial representation bias and learning to use pseudo fovea can be an effective training to reduce the audio bias.

About the visual localization test, results show that this training can improve the precision of MD patients in peripheral region of visual field. We speculate that training with AVT device having audio, visual and proprioceptive feedback can effectively force the subject to see visual stimulus through residual vision, since there are other two modalities i.e. audio and tactile to draw attention towards the visual stimulus. While fixating on the central fixation visual stimulus, MD individual is not able to see visual stimulus of periphery due to potential blind spot but then audio and tactile modality gains more weightage forcing eye movement to an extent that subject start seeing the stimulus through residual vision. Precision in the center was already better then in periphery for both groups even in pre phase, showing that these patients had already developed some sort of pseudo fovea naturally. Considering the fact that most patients had scotoma in center of their visual fields, learning to improve precision in localization of visual stimuli can eventually lead to development of an effective pseudo fovea. We analyzed the results in terms of percentage of seen trials in central and peripheral visual fields as well, but results show no effective improvement with training. This can be explained as the percentage of seen trials in both visual fields was already high (greater than 85%), hence our MD participants were already very good in seeing the visual stimulus since vision is a reliable modality and always gets a higher weightage over other sensory modalities (Alais and Burr (2004). Contrary to training group, control group showed same results for both parameters (seen trials and precision) for both phases (pre and post). This can also be explained as discussed above for audio localization task i.e. the effect seen in training group in improving peripheral precision is an effect of IVATT training and not just cause of repetition of same task.

In summary, IVATT is an initial concept for rehabilitation of MD patients by introducing other sensory modalities. However, we have a prominent result in improving the sound localization with training, we can modify the training and bring more complex visual techniques to improve the visual modality factor as well. This is just an initial idea, but we are confident that we can take this concept to further levels where it will be possible to take advantage of the residual vision of Macular Degeneration patients and at the same time improve their audio spatial representations in order to bring a positive and healthy change in their lives.

5.4 General conclusion

There are many studies about how sensory modalities react to loss of inputs for visual modality in blindness, and how intact senses can be utilized for designing rehabilitation techniques and devices for blind individuals. On one side, studies report how loss of one sensory modality decreases the reliability of other sensory modalities (for example, audio spatial representation is effected due to vision loss), on the other hand, it has also been shown that a proper training can reorganize working modalities to compensate for lost sensory modality (for example, audio motor training can improve spatial localization in blind individuals). However, the question of multisensory integration mechanism works for partial visual input loss is less known and therefore, the focus of rehabilitation for such individuals is only limited to use of residual visual inputs. Our dissertation focused on how sensory modalities of individuals suffering from Macular Degeneration, for whom loss of vision due to scotoma is still an ongoing progressive process, reacts to gradual loss of visual inputs. We found a bias towards lost visual input regions in audio-spatial representation of these individuals. We developed a multisensory rehabilitation technique (audio-visual motor training) to re calibrate this auditory bias and to help MD individuals understand their own audio and visual representation in space. We found an improvement in audio-spatial bias and better precision in peripheral visual field as a result of this training. Two devices are presented in this dissertation. One is ARENA which is an audio-tactile matrix of speakers and used to study audio localization in MD individuals. Second device is Audio Visual Thumble (AVT) which is capable of providing multisensory feedback i.e. spatially and temporally coherent audio and visual feedbacks, and is used in the rehabilitation protocol we developed. We conclude from this dissertation that partial loss of visual inputs have a multisensory influence. It effect the spatial representation of audio and visual signals and hence focus of rehabilitation techniques can be extended to bring-in multisensory modalities in order to reduce the spatial bias and utilize residual vision of MD individuals.

References

- Abboud, S., Hanassy, S., Levy-Tzedek, S., Maidenbaum, S., and Amedi, A. (2014). Eyemusic: Introducing a "visual" colorful experience for the blind using auditory sensory substitution. *Restorative neurology and neuroscience*, 32(2):247–257.
- Ahmad, H., Setti, W., Campus, C., Facchini, V., Capris, E., Sandini, G., and Gori, M. (2019). Audio space representation in individuals with macular degeneration. *Frontiers in integrative neuroscience*, 13:44.
- Alais, D. and Burr, D. (2004). The ventriloquist effect results from near-optimal bimodal integration. *Current biology*, 14(3):257–262.
- Amedi, A., Stern, W. M., Camprodon, J. A., Bermpohl, F., Merabet, L., Rotman, S., Hemond, C., Meijer, P., and Pascual-Leone, A. (2007). Shape conveyed by visual-to-auditory sensory substitution activates the lateral occipital complex. *Nature neuroscience*, 10(6):687.
- Arditi, B., Barros, S., Bowman, G., and Howarth, D. (2005). Populism and the Mirror of Democracy. Verso.
- Bach-y Rita, P., Collins, C. C., Saunders, F. A., White, B., and Scadden, L. (1969). Vision substitution by tactile image projection. *Nature*, 221(5184):963–964.
- Bailey, I. L. and Lovie, J. (1980). The design and use of a new near-vision chart. American journal of optometry and physiological optics, 57(6):378–387.
- Bailey, I. L. and Lovie, J. E. (1976). New design principles for visual acuity letter charts. *American journal of optometry and physiological optics*, 53(11):740–745.
- Boroojerdi, B., Prager, A., Muellbacher, W., and Cohen, L. G. (2000). Reduction of human visual cortex excitability using 1-hz transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Neurology*, 54(7):1529–1531.
- Braaf, B., Vienola, K. V., Sheehy, C. K., Yang, Q., Vermeer, K. A., Tiruveedhula, P., Arathorn, D. W., Roorda, A., and de Boer, J. F. (2013). Real-time eye motion correction in phase-resolved oct angiography with tracking slo. *Biomedical optics express*, 4(1):51–65.
- Bressler, N. M., Bressler, S. B., and Fine, S. L. (1988). Age-related macular degeneration. *Survey of ophthalmology*, 32(6):375–413.
- Brown, A. M. and Yamamoto, M. (1986). Visual acuity in newborn and preterm infants measured with grating acuity cards. *American journal of ophthalmology*, 102(2):245–253.

- Büchel, C., Price, C., Frackowiak, R., and Friston, K. (1998). Different activation patterns in the visual cortex of late and congenitally blind subjects. *Brain: a journal of neurology*, 121(3):409–419.
- Budinger, E., Heil, P., and Scheich, H. (2000). Functional organization of auditory cortex in the mongolian gerbil (meriones unguiculatus). iv. connections with anatomically characterized subcortical structures. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 12(7):2452–2474.
- Budzynski, T., Budzynski, H. K., and Tang, H.-Y. (2007). Brain brightening: Restoring the aging mind.
- Calabrese, A., Cheong, A. M., Cheung, S.-H., He, Y., Kwon, M., Mansfield, J. S., Subramanian, A., Yu, D., and Legge, G. E. (2016). Baseline mnread measures for normally sighted subjects from childhood to old age. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, 57(8):3836–3843.
- Calvert, G. A. (2001). Crossmodal processing in the human brain: insights from functional neuroimaging studies. *Cerebral cortex*, 11(12):1110–1123.
- Cappagli, G., Finocchietti, S., Baud-Bovy, G., Badino, L., D'Ausilio, A., Cocchi, E., and Gori, M. (2018). Assessing social competence in visually impaired people and proposing an interventional program in visually impaired children. *IEEE Transactions on Cognitive and Developmental Systems*, 10(4):929–935.
- Cappe, C., Rouiller, E. M., and Barone, P. (2009). Multisensory anatomical pathways. *Hearing research*, 258(1-2):28–36.
- Chaparro, A., McGregor, L., and Stumpfhauser, L. (1998). The driving habits of older adults with visual impairment. In *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, volume 42, pages 1266–1270. SAGE Publications Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA.
- Chebat, D.-R., Harrar, V., Kupers, R., Maidenbaum, S., Amedi, A., and Ptito, M. (2018). Sensory substitution and the neural correlates of navigation in blindness. In *Mobility of Visually Impaired People*, pages 167–200. Springer.
- Chen, F. K., Patel, P. J., Xing, W., Bunce, C., Egan, C., Tufail, A. T., Coffey, P. J., Rubin, G. S., and Da Cruz, L. (2009). Test–retest variability of microperimetry using the nidek mp1 in patients with macular disease. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, 50(7):3464–3472.
- Chen, N. and Fang, F. (2011). Tilt aftereffect from orientation discrimination learning. *Experimental brain research*, 215(3-4):227–234.
- Chew, E. Y., Clemons, T., SanGiovanni, J. P., Danis, R., Domalpally, A., McBee, W., Sperduto, R., Ferris, F. L., Group, A. R., et al. (2012). The age-related eye disease study 2 (areds2): study design and baseline characteristics (areds2 report number 1). *Ophthalmology*, 119(11):2282–2289.
- Chung, S. T. (2011). Improving reading speed for people with central vision loss through perceptual learning. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, 52(2):1164–1170.

- Chung, S. T. and Legge, G. E. (2016). Comparing the shape of contrast sensitivity functions for normal and low vision. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, 57(1):198–207.
- Chung, S. T., Legge, G. E., and Cheung, S.-h. (2004). recognition and reading speed in peripheral vision benefit from perceptual learning. *Vision research*, 44(7):695–709.
- Coates, D. R. and Chung, S. T. (2014). Changes across the psychometric function following perceptual learning of an rsvp reading task. *Frontiers in psychology*, 5:1434.
- Cohen, J. and Matthen, M. (2018). Many molyneux questions.
- Cohen, L. G., Weeks, R. A., Sadato, N., Celnik, P., Ishii, K., and Hallett, M. (1999). Period of susceptibility for cross-modal plasticity in the blind. *Annals of Neurology: Official Journal* of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society, 45(4):451– 460.
- Collignon, O., Charbonneau, G., Peters, F., Nassim, M., Lassonde, M., Lepore, F., Mottron, L., and Bertone, A. (2013). Reduced multisensory facilitation in persons with autism. *cortex*, 49(6):1704–1710.
- Collignon, O., Voss, P., Lassonde, M., and Lepore, F. (2009). Cross-modal plasticity for the spatial processing of sounds in visually deprived subjects. *Experimental brain research*, 192(3):343.
- Crossland, M. D., Culham, L. E., Kabanarou, S. A., and Rubin, G. S. (2005). Preferred retinal locus development in patients with macular disease. *Ophthalmology*, 112(9):1579–1585.
- Curcio, C. A., Medeiros, N. E., and Millican, C. L. (1996). Photoreceptor loss in age-related macular degeneration. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, 37(7):1236–1249.
- Daibert-Nido, M., Patino, B., Markowitz, M., and Markowitz, S. N. (2019). Rehabilitation with biofeedback training in age-related macular degeneration for improving distance vision. *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology*, 54(3):328–334.
- Delahunt, P. B., Webster, M. A., Ma, L., and Werner, J. S. (2004). Long-term renormalization of chromatic mechanisms following cataract surgery. *Visual neuroscience*, 21(3):301–307.
- Denniss, J., Baggaley, H. C., Brown, G. M., Rubin, G. S., and Astle, A. T. (2017). Properties of visual field defects around the monocular preferred retinal locus in age-related macular degeneration. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, 58(5):2652–2658.
- Deruaz, A., Whatham, A., Mermoud, C., and Safran, A. (2002). Reading with multiple preferred retinal loci: implications for training a more efficient reading strategy. *Vision Research*, 42(27):2947–2957.
- Dietrich, S., Hertrich, I., Kumar, V., and Ackermann, H. (2015). Experience-related structural changes of degenerated occipital white matter in late-blind humans–a diffusion tensor imaging study. *PLoS One*, 10(4).
- Ellemberg, D., Lewis, T. L., Liu, C. H., and Maurer, D. (1999). Development of spatial and temporal vision during childhood. *Vision research*, 39(14):2325–2333.

- Elliott, D. B., Sanderson, K., and Conkey, A. (1990). The reliability of the pelli-robson contrast sensitivity chart. *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics*, 10(1):21–24.
- Erbezci, M. and Ozturk, T. (2018). Preferred retinal locus locations in age-related macular degeneration. *Retina*, 38(12):2372–2378.
- Erickson, K. I., Colcombe, S. J., Wadhwa, R., Bherer, L., Peterson, M. S., Scalf, P. E., Kim, J. S., Alvarado, M., and Kramer, A. F. (2007). Training-induced plasticity in older adults: effects of training on hemispheric asymmetry. *Neurobiology of aging*, 28(2):272–283.
- Fagiolini, M. and Hensch, T. K. (2000). Inhibitory threshold for critical-period activation in primary visual cortex. *Nature*, 404(6774):183–186.
- Falchier, A., Clavagnier, S., Barone, P., and Kennedy, H. (2002). Anatomical evidence of multimodal integration in primate striate cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(13):5749– 5759.
- Ferris III, F. L., Kassoff, A., Bresnick, G. H., and Bailey, I. (1982). New visual acuity charts for clinical research. *American journal of ophthalmology*, 94(1):91–96.
- Finocchietti, S., Cappagli, G., and Gori, M. (2015). Encoding audio motion: spatial impairment in early blind individuals. *Frontiers in psychology*, 6:1357.
- Fletcher, D. C. and Schuchard, R. A. (1997). Preferred retinal loci relationship to macular scotomas in a low-vision population. *Ophthalmology*, 104(4):632–638.
- Foxe, J. J., Morocz, I. A., Murray, M. M., Higgins, B. A., Javitt, D. C., and Schroeder, C. E. (2000). Multisensory auditory–somatosensory interactions in early cortical processing revealed by high-density electrical mapping. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 10(1-2):77–83.
- Foxe, J. J. and Simpson, G. V. (2002). Flow of activation from v1 to frontal cortex in humans. *Experimental brain research*, 142(1):139–150.
- Ghazanfar, A. A. and Schroeder, C. E. (2006). Is neocortex essentially multisensory? *Trends in cognitive sciences*, 10(6):278–285.
- Giard, M.-H. and Peronnet, F. (1999). Auditory-visual integration during multimodal object recognition in humans: a behavioral and electrophysiological study. *Journal of cognitive neuroscience*, 11(5):473–490.
- Gomez-Ramirez, M., Kelly, S. P., Molholm, S., Sehatpour, P., Schwartz, T. H., and Foxe, J. J. (2011). Oscillatory sensory selection mechanisms during intersensory attention to rhythmic auditory and visual inputs: a human electrocorticographic investigation. *Journal* of Neuroscience, 31(50):18556–18567.
- Gori, M., Vercillo, T., Sandini, G., and Burr, D. (2014). Tactile feedback improves auditory spatial localization. *Frontiers in psychology*, 5:1121.
- Gregory, R. L. and Wallace, J. G. (1963). Recovery from early blindness. *Experimental* psychology society monograph, 2:65–129.

- Guez, J.-E., Le Gargasson, J.-F., Rigaudiere, F., and O'Regan, J. K. (1993). Is there a systematic location for the pseudo-fovea in patients with central scotoma? *Vision research*, 33(9):1271–1279.
- Hall, A. J. and Lomber, S. G. (2008). Auditory cortex projections target the peripheral field representation of primary visual cortex. *Experimental Brain Research*, 190(4):413–430.
- Hanout, M., Horan, N., and Do, D. V. (2015). Introduction to microperimetry and its use in analysis of geographic atrophy in age-related macular degeneration. *Current opinion in ophthalmology*, 26(3):149–156.
- Hassan, S. E., Lovie-Kitchin, J. E., Woods, R. L., et al. (2002). Vision and mobility performance of subjects with age-related macular degeneration. *Optometry and Vision Science*, 79(11):697–707.
- Henschke, J. U., Noesselt, T., Scheich, H., and Budinger, E. (2015). Possible anatomical pathways for short-latency multisensory integration processes in primary sensory cortices. *Brain Structure and Function*, 220(2):955–977.
- Hernowo, A. T., Prins, D., Baseler, H. A., Plank, T., Gouws, A. D., Hooymans, J. M., Morland, A. B., Greenlee, M. W., and Cornelissen, F. W. (2014). Morphometric analyses of the visual pathways in macular degeneration. *Cortex*, 56:99–110.
- Hess, R., Mansouri, B., and Thompson, B. (2011). Restoration of binocular vision in amblyopia. *Strabismus*, 19(3):110–118.
- Hooper, P., Jutai, J. W., Strong, G., and Russell-Minda, E. (2008). Age-related macular degeneration and low-vision rehabilitation: a systematic review. *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology*, 43(2):180–187.
- Hubel, D. H. and Wiesel, T. N. (1965). Receptive fields and functional architecture in two nonstriate visual areas (18 and 19) of the cat. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 28(2):229–289.
- Huber, E., Webster, J. M., Brewer, A. A., MacLeod, D. I., Wandell, B. A., Boynton, G. M., Wade, A. R., and Fine, I. (2015). A lack of experience-dependent plasticity after more than a decade of recovered sight. *Psychological science*, 26(4):393–401.
- Huttenlocher, P. R. (2009). Neural plasticity. Harvard University Press.
- Johnson, L. A. and Higgins, C. M. (2006). A navigation aid for the blind using tactilevisual sensory substitution. In 2006 International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, pages 6289–6292. IEEE.
- Jones, E. G. and Powell, T. P. S. (1970). Electron microscopy of the somatic sensory cortex of the cat: I. cell types and synaptic organization. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. B, Biological Sciences*, 257(812):1–11.
- Kayser, C. (2010). The multisensory nature of unisensory cortices: a puzzle continued. *Neuron*, 67(2):178–180.

- Keenan, T. D., Vitale, S., Agrón, E., Domalpally, A., Antoszyk, A. N., Elman, M. J., Clemons, T. E., Chew, E. Y., Group, A. R., et al. (2019). Visual acuity outcomes after anti-vegf treatment for neovascular age-related macular degeneration: Areds2 report number 19. *Ophthalmology Retina*.
- Keil, J. and Senkowski, D. (2018). Neural oscillations orchestrate multisensory processing. *The Neuroscientist*, 24(6):609–626.
- Kramer, A. F. and Erickson, K. I. (2007). Capitalizing on cortical plasticity: influence of physical activity on cognition and brain function. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, 11(8):342– 348.
- Kupers, R., Beaulieu-Lefebvre, M., Schneider, F., Kassuba, T., Paulson, O., Siebner, H., and Ptito, M. (2011). Neural correlates of olfactory processing in congenital blindness. *Neuropsychologia*, 49(7):2037–2044.
- Kwon, M., Legge, G. E., and Dubbels, B. R. (2007). Developmental changes in the visual span for reading. *Vision research*, 47(22):2889–2900.
- Kwon, M., Legge, G. E., Fang, F., Cheong, A. M., and He, S. (2009). Adaptive changes in visual cortex following prolonged contrast reduction. *Journal of vision*, 9(2):20–20.
- Legge, G. E. and Chung, S. T. (2016). Low vision and plasticity: Implications for rehabilitation. *Annual review of vision science*, 2:321–343.
- Lei, H. and Schuchard, R. A. (1997). Using two preferred retinal loci for different lighting conditions in patients with central scotomas. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, 38(9):1812–1818.
- Lesmes, L. A., Lu, Z.-L., Baek, J., and Albright, T. D. (2010). Bayesian adaptive estimation of the contrast sensitivity function: The quick csf method. *Journal of vision*, 10(3):17–17.
- Lessard, N., Paré, M., Lepore, F., and Lassonde, M. (1998). Early-blind human subjects localize sound sources better than sighted subjects. *Nature*, 395(6699):278.
- Levi, D. M. and Li, R. W. (2009). Perceptual learning as a potential treatment for amblyopia: a mini-review. *Vision research*, 49(21):2535–2549.
- Li, R. W., Levi, D. M., and Klein, S. A. (2004). Perceptual learning improves efficiency by re-tuning the decision'template' for position discrimination. *Nature neuroscience*, 7(2):178–183.
- Lievers, M. (1992). The molyneux problem. *Journal of the History of Philosophy*, 30(3):399–416.
- Lund, R. D. (1985). Development & Plasticity of the Brain. Oxford University Press.
- Macaluso, E., Frith, C. D., and Driver, J. (2000). Modulation of human visual cortex by crossmodal spatial attention. *Science*, 289(5482):1206–1208.
- Mainster, M. A., Timberlake, G. T., Webb, R. H., and Hughes, G. W. (1982). Scanning laser ophthalmoscopy: clinical applications. *Ophthalmology*, 89(7):852–857.

- Martens, M. and Van Winsum, W. (2000). Measuring distraction: the peripheral detection task. *TNO Human Factors, Soesterberg, Netherlands*.
- Martin, D. F., Maguire, M. G., Fine, S. L., Ying, G.-s., Jaffe, G. J., Grunwald, J. E., Toth, C., Redford, M., Ferris 3rd, F. L., of Age-related Macular Degeneration Treatments Trials (CATT) Research Group, C., et al. (2012). Ranibizumab and bevacizumab for treatment of neovascular age-related macular degeneration: two-year results. *Ophthalmology*, 119(7):1388–1398.
- Martolini, C., Cuppone, A. V., Cappagli, G., Finocchietti, S., Maviglia, A., and Gori, M. (2018). Abbi-k: a novel tool for evaluating spatial and motor abilities in visually impaired children. In 2018 IEEE International Symposium on Medical Measurements and Applications (MeMeA), pages 1–6. IEEE.
- Martuzzi, R., Murray, M. M., Michel, C. M., Thiran, J.-P., Maeder, P. P., Clarke, S., and Meuli, R. A. (2006). Multisensory interactions within human primary cortices revealed by bold dynamics. *Cerebral Cortex*, 17(7):1672–1679.
- Merabet, L. B., Hamilton, R., Schlaug, G., Swisher, J. D., Kiriakopoulos, E. T., Pitskel, N. B., Kauffman, T., and Pascual-Leone, A. (2008). Rapid and reversible recruitment of early visual cortex for touch. *PLoS one*, 3(8).
- Mercier, M. R., Foxe, J. J., Fiebelkorn, I. C., Butler, J. S., Schwartz, T. H., and Molholm, S. (2013). Auditory-driven phase reset in visual cortex: human electrocorticography reveals mechanisms of early multisensory integration. *Neuroimage*, 79:19–29.
- Mercier, M. R., Molholm, S., Fiebelkorn, I. C., Butler, J. S., Schwartz, T. H., and Foxe, J. J. (2015). Neuro-oscillatory phase alignment drives speeded multisensory response times: an electro-corticographic investigation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(22):8546–8557.
- Midena, E., Pilotto, E., and Convento, E. (2018). Age-related macular degeneration: Prevention of blindness and low-vision rehabilitation. In *Rehabilitation Medicine for Elderly Patients*, pages 293–298. Springer.
- Molholm, S., Ritter, W., Murray, M. M., Javitt, D. C., Schroeder, C. E., and Foxe, J. J. (2002). Multisensory auditory–visual interactions during early sensory processing in humans: a high-density electrical mapping study. *Cognitive brain research*, 14(1):115–128.
- Morimoto, T., Fukui, T., Matsushita, K., Okawa, Y., Shimojyo, H., Kusaka, S., Tano, Y., and Fujikado, T. (2006). Evaluation of residual retinal function by pupillary constrictions and phosphenes using transcorneal electrical stimulation in patients with retinal degeneration. *Graefe's Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology*, 244(10):1283.
- Morrell, F. (1972). Visual system's view of acoustic space. Nature, 238(5358):44-46.
- Murray, M. M., Lewkowicz, D. J., Amedi, A., and Wallace, M. T. (2016). Multisensory processes: a balancing act across the lifespan. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 39(8):567–579.
- Murray, M. M., Molholm, S., Michel, C. M., Heslenfeld, D. J., Ritter, W., Javitt, D. C., Schroeder, C. E., and Foxe, J. J. (2004). Grabbing your ear: rapid auditory–somatosensory multisensory interactions in low-level sensory cortices are not constrained by stimulus alignment. *Cerebral cortex*, 15(7):963–974.

- Nelson, J. S., Kuling, I. A., Gori, M., Postma, A., Brenner, E., and Smeets, J. B. (2018). Spatial representation of the workspace in blind, low vision, and sighted human participants. *i-Perception*, 9(3):2041669518781877.
- Nguyen, N. X., Weismann, M., and Trauzettel-Klosinski, S. (2009). Improvement of reading speed after providing of low vision aids in patients with age-related macular degeneration. *Acta ophthalmologica*, 87(8):849–853.
- Okura, F., Ikuma, S., Makihara, Y., Muramatsu, D., Nakada, K., and Yagi, Y. (2019). Rgbd video-based individual identification of dairy cows using gait and texture analyses. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 165:104944.
- Ortiz-Terán, L., Diez, I., Ortiz, T., Perez, D. L., Aragón, J. I., Costumero, V., Pascual-Leone, A., El Fakhri, G., and Sepulcre, J. (2017). Brain circuit–gene expression relationships and neuroplasticity of multisensory cortices in blind children. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(26):6830–6835.
- Palmer, S., Logan, D., Nabili, S., and Dutton, G. N. (2010). Effective rehabilitation of reading by training in the technique of eccentric viewing: evaluation of a 4-year programme of service delivery. *British Journal of Ophthalmology*, 94(4):494–497.
- Park, W. (1999). Vision rehabilitation for age-related macular degeneration. *International* ophthalmology clinics, 39(4):143–162.
- Parkosadze, K., Kalmakhelidze, T., Tolmacheva, M., Chichua, G., Kezeli, A., Webster, M. A., and Werner, J. S. (2013). Persistent biases in subjective image focus following cataract surgery. *Vision research*, 89:10–17.
- Pascual-Leone, A., Freitas, C., Oberman, L., Horvath, J. C., Halko, M., Eldaief, M., Bashir, S., Vernet, M., Shafi, M., Westover, B., et al. (2011). Characterizing brain cortical plasticity and network dynamics across the age-span in health and disease with tms-eeg and tms-fmri. *Brain topography*, 24(3-4):302.
- Radner, W., Obermayer, W., Richter-Mueksch, S., Willinger, U., Velikay-Parel, M., and Eisenwort, B. (2002). The validity and reliability of short german sentences for measuring reading speed. *Graefe's archive for clinical and experimental ophthalmology*, 240(6):461– 467.
- Radvay, X., Duhoux, S., Koenig-Supiot, F., and Vital-Durand, F. (2007). Balance training and visual rehabilitation of age-related macular degeneration patients. *Journal of Vestibular Research*, 17(4):183–193.
- Rauschecker, J. P. (1995). Compensatory plasticity and sensory substitution in the cerebral cortex. *Trends in neurosciences*, 18(1):36–43.
- Rauschecker, J. P., Tian, B., and Hauser, M. (1995). Processing of complex sounds in the macaque nonprimary auditory cortex. *Science*, 268(5207):111–114.
- Rockland, K. S. and Ojima, H. (2003). Multisensory convergence in calcarine visual areas in macaque monkey. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 50(1-2):19–26.

- Röder, B., Kusmierek, A., Spence, C., and Schicke, T. (2007). Developmental vision determines the reference frame for the multisensory control of action. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(11):4753–4758.
- Rohrschneider, K., Bültmann, S., and Springer, C. (2008). Use of fundus perimetry (microperimetry) to quantify macular sensitivity. *Progress in retinal and eye research*, 27(5):536–548.
- Romei, V., Murray, M. M., Cappe, C., and Thut, G. (2009). Preperceptual and stimulusselective enhancement of low-level human visual cortex excitability by sounds. *Current biology*, 19(21):1799–1805.
- Roorda, A. and Duncan, J. L. (2015). Adaptive optics ophthalmoscopy. *Annual review of vision science*, 1:19–50.
- Rosengarth, K., Keck, I., Brandl-Rühle, S., Frolo, J., Hufendiek, K., Greenlee, M. W., and Plank, T. (2013). Functional and structural brain modifications induced by oculomotor training in patients with age-related macular degeneration. *Frontiers in psychology*, 4:428.
- Rousselet, G. A., Pernet, C. R., and Wilcox, R. R. (2017). Beyond differences in means: robust graphical methods to compare two groups in neuroscience. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 46(2):1738–1748.
- Sabel, B. A., Wang, J., Cárdenas-Morales, L., Faiq, M., Heim, C., and Golubnitschaja, O. (2019). Flammer syndrome: Psychological causes and consequences of visual impairment. In *Flammer Syndrome*, pages 29–77. Springer.
- Sadato, N., Pascual-Leone, A., Grafman, J., Ibañez, V., Deiber, M.-P., Dold, G., and Hallett, M. (1996). Activation of the primary visual cortex by braille reading in blind subjects. *Nature*, 380(6574):526.
- Şahlı, E. and İdil, A. (2019). A common approach to low vision: Examination and rehabilitation of the patient with low vision. *Turkish journal of ophthalmology*, 49(2):89.
- Santangelo, V. and Macaluso, E. (2012). 19 spatial attention and audiovisual processing.
- Schroeder, C. E. and Lakatos, P. (2009). The gamma oscillation: master or slave? *Brain topography*, 22(1):24–26.
- Schuchard, R. A. (2005). Preferred retinal loci and macular scotoma characteristics in patients with age-related macular degeneration. *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology*, 40(3):303–312.
- Schwab, E. C. and Nusbaum, H. C. (2013). *Pattern recognition by humans and machines: speech perception*, volume 1. Academic Press.
- Seiple, W., Grant, P., and Szlyk, J. P. (2011). Reading rehabilitation of individuals with amd: relative effectiveness of training approaches. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, 52(6):2938–2944.
- Seiple, W., Rosen, R. B., and Garcia, P. M. (2013). Abnormal fixation in individuals with age-related macular degeneration when viewing an image of a face. *Optometry and Vision Science*, 90(1):45–56.

- Setti, W., Cuturi, L. F., Cocchi, E., and Gori, M. (2018). A novel paradigm to study spatial memory skills in blind individuals through the auditory modality. *Scientific reports*, 8(1):13393.
- Šikl, R., Šimeček, M., Porubanová-Norquist, M., Bezdíček, O., Kremláček, J., Stodlka, P., Fine, I., and Ostrovsky, Y. (2013). Vision after 53 years of blindness. *i-Perception*, 4(8):498–507.
- Slakter, J. S. and Stur, M. (2005). Quality of life in patients with age-related macular degeneration: impact of the condition and benefits of treatment. *Survey of ophthalmology*, 50(3):263–273.
- Soong, G. P., Lovie-Kitchin, J. E., and Brown, B. (2004). Measurements of preferred walking speed in subjects with central and peripheral vision loss. *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics*, 24(4):291–295.
- Stein, B. E. and Meredith, M. A. (1993). The merging of the senses. The MIT Press.
- Stelmack, J. (2001). Quality of life of low-vision patients and outcomes of low-vision rehabilitation. *Optometry and Vision Science*, 78(5):335–342.
- Striem-Amit, E., Cohen, L., Dehaene, S., and Amedi, A. (2012). Reading with sounds: sensory substitution selectively activates the visual word form area in the blind. *Neuron*, 76(3):640–652.
- Sun, Y., Chen, Y., Wang, X., and Tang, X. (2014). Deep learning face representation by joint identification-verification. In Advances in neural information processing systems, pages 1988–1996.
- Trauzettel-Klosinski, S. and Dietz, K. (2012). Standardized assessment of reading performance: The new international reading speed texts irest. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, 53(9):5452–5461.
- Von Noorden, G. K. and Mackensen, G. "u. n. (1962). Phenomenology of eccentric fixation. *American Journal of Ophthalmology*, 53(4):642–661.
- Von Senden, M. (1960). Space and sight: the perception of space and shape in the congenitally blind before and after operation.
- Vos, T., Allen, C., Arora, M., Barber, R. M., Bhutta, Z. A., Brown, A., Carter, A., Casey, D. C., Charlson, F. J., Chen, A. Z., et al. (2016). Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 310 diseases and injuries, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2015. *The Lancet*, 388(10053):1545–1602.
- Vos, T., Barber, R. M., Bell, B., Bertozzi-Villa, A., Biryukov, S., Bolliger, I., Charlson, F., Davis, A., Degenhardt, L., Dicker, D., et al. (2015). Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2013. *The Lancet*, 386(9995):743–800.

- Voss, P., Lassonde, M., Gougoux, F., Fortin, M., Guillemot, J.-P., and Lepore, F. (2004). Early-and late-onset blind individuals show supra-normal auditory abilities in far-space. *Current Biology*, 14(19):1734–1738.
- Wandell, B. A. and Smirnakis, S. M. (2009). Plasticity and stability of visual field maps in adult primary visual cortex. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10(12):873–884.
- Wandell, B. A. and Winawer, J. (2015). Computational neuroimaging and population receptive fields. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, 19(6):349–357.
- Ward, J. and Meijer, P. (2010). Visual experiences in the blind induced by an auditory sensory substitution device. *Consciousness and cognition*, 19(1):492–500.
- Webster, R. G. and Haslerud, G. M. (1964). Influence on extreme peripheral vision of attention to a visual or auditory task. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 68(3):269.
- Weeks, R., Horwitz, B., Aziz-Sultan, A., Tian, B., Wessinger, C. M., Cohen, L. G., Hallett, M., and Rauschecker, J. P. (2000). A positron emission tomographic study of auditory localization in the congenitally blind. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(7):2664–2672.
- White, J. M. and Bedell, H. E. (1990). The oculomotor reference in humans with bilateral macular disease. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, 31(6):1149–1161.
- Whittaker, S. G., Budd, J., and Cummings, R. (1988). Eccentric fixation with macular scotoma. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, 29(2):268–278.
- Wiecek, E., Jackson, M. L., Dakin, S. C., and Bex, P. (2012). Visual search with image modification in age-related macular degeneration. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, 53(10):6600–6609.
- Williamson, S. and Seewoodhary, R. (2013). Cataract blindness in older people and sight restoration: a reflection. *International Journal of Ophthalmic Practice*, 4(5):212–218.
- Wykoff, C. C. (2019). Age-related macular degeneration: Clinical management. In *Geriatric Ophthalmology*, pages 53–66. Springer.
- Yu, L., Cuppini, C., Xu, J., Rowland, B. A., and Stein, B. E. (2019). Cross-modal competition: The default computation for multisensory processing. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 39(8):1374– 1385.
- Zhang, J.-Y., Zhang, G.-L., Xiao, L.-Q., Klein, S. A., Levi, D. M., and Yu, C. (2010). Rulebased learning explains visual perceptual learning and its specificity and transfer. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(37):12323–12328.